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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I am Bill Perkins, Chair of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today we'll be conducting a hearing

          6  on Introductory Bill No. 124, which deals with

          7  Campaign Finance Reform.

          8                 Intro. No. 124 is a lengthy and

          9  complex bill, which is why we have spent and will

         10  spend several hearings examining it. The more

         11  salient proposals in the bill are, 1) application of

         12  the contribution and disclosure requirements to all

         13  candidates from municipal offices.

         14                 2) Streamline the Board's

         15  administration of the program.

         16                 3) Reduce areas of potential fraud

         17  and deception.

         18                 4) Limit unnecessary expenditures of

         19  public funds.

         20                 5) Further level the electoral

         21  playing field by altering the formula for paying

         22  public funds to participants facing high spending

         23  non-participants.

         24                 Improve the effectiveness of the

         25  debate program.
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          2                 Permit limited participation in the

          3  program by self-funded candidates.

          4                 Good government is pushing these

          5  reforms. One of the central themes which runs

          6  through this bill is the concept of greater

          7  governmental transparency through more regular and

          8  detailed disclosure.

          9                 I will use an example to better

         10  demonstrate this theme and some other reform themes

         11  running through this bill.

         12                 You have three Council member

         13  candidates running for office in a City primary.

         14  Candidate one wishes to join the program. Candidate

         15  two wishes to self-finance their own campaign; and

         16  candidate three wishes to run a campaign through

         17  fundraising, but does not wish to enter the program,

         18  as they believe they could raise more money outside

         19  the program, and probably because they don't want to

         20  adhere to the program's rules regarding contribution

         21  limits and disclosure, among other things.

         22                 There is now room for all these

         23  candidates within the program under this bill. The

         24  first candidate would be your traditional

         25  participant adhering to the Campaign Finance Board
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          2  rules.

          3                 The second candidate who intends to

          4  self-finance could now enter as a limited

          5  participant. A limited participant.

          6                 The limited participant agrees to

          7  enter the program, funds everything for their

          8  campaign personally, but agrees to adhere to

          9  expenditure limits and disclosure requirements of

         10  the program.

         11                 I repeat. The limited participant

         12  agrees to enter the program, funds everything for

         13  their campaign personally, but agrees to adhere to

         14  expenditure limits and disclosure requirements of

         15  the program.

         16                 In return, the first candidate

         17  participating will no longer get a bonus, which is

         18  increased by this legislation in stages from the

         19  traditional five to one to eight to one in stages,

         20  and will have the same spending cap as the

         21  self-financed candidate, with additional spending

         22  cap, that is.

         23                 This saves the City money and

         24  preserves the goals of the program by balancing the

         25  playing field.
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          2                 The third candidate, who does not

          3  wish to join the program, will now under this bill

          4  be subject to the disclosure requirement and the

          5  contribution limits of the program, regardless of

          6  their participation in the program.

          7                 Again, the third candidate will now

          8  under this bill be subject to the disclosure

          9  requirements and contribution limits of the program,

         10  regardless of their participation.

         11                 These requirements will now apply to

         12  all candidates to municipal offices, much the same

         13  way the state requirements are applied to all

         14  candidates in the state, even though they are

         15  receiving no public funds from the state.

         16                 We believe the City Program

         17  requirements are more rigorous good government

         18  requirements than the existing state requirement

         19  that are few and far between and not very detailed.

         20                 This extra disclosure is particularly

         21  important so that the Board can better gauge the

         22  "playing field," even if certain candidates are not

         23  in the program.

         24                 This third candidate is referred to

         25  in the bill as a"non-participant."
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          2                 Other issues that are open to

          3  discussion today are: Whether there should be

          4  spending caps in election outyears, that is the

          5  first three years of an election, of a four-year

          6  election cycle.

          7                 If there should be a cap, what should

          8  it be?

          9                 Whether we need to define "minimal

         10  opposition." There has been much media attention

         11  been given to the expenditures of public money to

         12  strong candidates where that candidate's opponent is

         13  not a credible threat.

         14                 This is a difficult question because

         15  we don't know who is credible until after an

         16  election, but it is an issue that we should explore.

         17                 Conversely, should non-credible

         18  candidates get money themselves? Another issue has

         19  arose where candidates never expect to win, but

         20  rather get public money and spend it on frivolous

         21  campaigns. This, too, is something that needs to be

         22  examined.

         23                 We are exploring another issue of

         24  government resources and their use in the electoral

         25  process. The rule of law is that incumbents cannot
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          2  use government resources for political purposes.

          3                 We need to investigate any abuses of

          4  this and discuss which agencies should be monitoring

          5  this. We, of course, need to balance this with an

          6  elected official's need to serve their community.

          7                 It is a difficult line to draw. We

          8  need to examine this fully.

          9                 Today we expect to hear testimony

         10  from public advocates and election attorneys. Before

         11  we begin this hearing, I'd like to introduce the

         12  other members of the Committee.

         13                 Starting on my left, our Chairman of

         14  Consumer Affairs, Council Member Philip Reed.

         15                 And moving to her right, where she

         16  belongs, as she would say, the Chairwoman of our

         17  Housing and Buildings Committee, Councilwoman

         18  Madeline Provenzano.

         19                 And to join us shortly, on the left

         20  where she belongs, or where her belongings are,

         21  Councilwoman Christine Quinn, who stepped out for a

         22  moment.

         23                 I want to acknowledge the Council to

         24  the Committee, Matthew Tollin; the Policy Analyst

         25  for the Committee Jonathan Ettricks, and Lupe' Todd,
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          2  who is the Press Secretary for the Committee.

          3                 I want to thank everyone who has come

          4  to testify, for their attention to this very, very

          5  important matter. And as I said earlier, this is

          6  part of a series of hearings that we will have on

          7  this very complex issue of legislation, that we

          8  think will again add significantly to the

          9  improvement of what has become known as a

         10  state-of-the-art campaign finance program, but one

         11  that is still in the making.

         12                 So, without further ado, we will now

         13  turn to our first panel.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Paul Ryan from

         15  the Center for Governmental Studies.

         16                 Can you raise your right hand?

         17                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         18  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 MR. RYAN: I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you state

         22  your name, and your organization you're affiliated

         23  with?

         24                 MR. RYAN: My name is Paul Shamus

         25  Ryan, and I am representing the Center for
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          2  Governmental Studies in Los Angeles, California.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to thank

          4  you for your journey to the Big Apple, and clearly

          5  your commitment is evident by the fact that you are

          6  here and from so far, and we want to let you know

          7  that we appreciate your participation in this

          8  hearing.

          9                 You may begin.

         10                 MR. RYAN: Thank you very much. It's a

         11  pleasure to be here today with this opportunity to

         12  testify before you. I am going to begin by reading a

         13  portion of the written testimony that I will be

         14  submitting for the record, and then leave the

         15  lengthy written testimony that I've written, direct

         16  my comments from that point forward, specifically to

         17  the proposal to extend New York City's --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have

         19  copies of your testimony?

         20                 MR. RYAN: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Will the

         22  Sergeant-At-Arms assist us in distributing his

         23  testimony?

         24                 While the Sergeant is distributing

         25  his testimony, I want to acknowledge also on the
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          2  left, as usual, left of Council Member Reed is

          3  Council Member Eric Gioia, and joining us on the

          4  right, but not as far right as Madeline Provenzano,

          5  is the Chairwoman of our Education Committee, Eva

          6  Moskowitz.

          7                 You may begin.

          8                 MR. RYAN: New York City's public

          9  campaign financing program, enacted in 1988, serves

         10  as a model campaign finance law for cities and

         11  states across the nation.

         12                 Public campaign financing has

         13  undoubtedly enhanced democracy in New York City. The

         14  City's four to one campaign finance match has

         15  increased the importance of small campaign

         16  contributions, which in turn has expanded political

         17  participation and reduced candidate dependents on

         18  wealthy donors.

         19                 Public financing, combined with term

         20  limits has encourage record numbers of candidates to

         21  run for office in recent years.

         22                 Candidates without access to wealthy

         23  donors, including many women and people and color,

         24  have run for office under the public financing

         25  program and won, insisting they could not have done
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          2  so without the City's four to one match.

          3                 All of this has been achieved for a

          4  tiny fraction of the City's budget.

          5                 New York City's demonstrated

          6  willingness to constantly improve its public

          7  financing program has produced 15 years of

          8  successes. Involving campaign finance practices and

          9  weak New York State Campaign Finance laws, however,

         10  have created loopholes in the City's program that

         11  must be closed if New York City is to remain among

         12  the nation's leaders in campaign finance reform.

         13                 The provisions of this introduced

         14  measure would close substantial loopholes.

         15                 The Center for Governmental Studies,

         16  also known as CGS, whole-heartedly supports this

         17  introduced proposal and urges its adoption.

         18                 CGS is a nonpartisan not-for-profit

         19  organization dedicated to making democracy work.

         20                 For more than 30 years, CGS has

         21  drafted Campaign Finance Laws, studied existing

         22  laws, and authored reports and books, more than 20

         23  reports and books on the subject.

         24                 Over the past three years I've been

         25  the principal author of a CGS series called public
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          2  financing in American elections, a series of reports

          3  examining public finance programs around the nation.

          4                 One report in the series, entitled A

          5  Statute of Liberty: How New York City's Campaign

          6  Finance Law is Changing the Face of Local Elections,

          7  examines the strength and weaknesses in New York

          8  City's public financing law.

          9                 It also recommends reforms to address

         10  the weaknesses identified in the report.

         11                 Several CGS recommendations have been

         12  included in this introduced proposal that's before

         13  you today. Specifically CGS recommends that New York

         14  City apply City contribution limits and campaign

         15  finance disclosure requirements to all candidates,

         16  regardless of whether a candidate participates in

         17  the City's public financing program.

         18                 We also recommend the City provide

         19  additional public funds to participants opposed by

         20  high spending, non-participating opponents.

         21                 Likewise, we recommend that the City

         22  simplify its spending limits, and strengthen the law

         23  prohibiting elected officials from using government

         24  funds to promote their candidacies.

         25                 And finally, we support the
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          2  proposal's provision to distribute public funds only

          3  to candidates with serious opponents.

          4                 I reiterate that we support the

          5  entire package, but I focus my written testimony and

          6  will do so with my spoken testimony today, to the

          7  six reforms that were included in the report that I

          8  had authored, that are likewise included in this

          9  proposal before you.

         10                 Extending New York City's law to

         11  non-participants is vital in order to avoid

         12  corruption or its appearance, and also to create an

         13  informed electorate. New York City and Suffolk

         14  County, the two local jurisdictions within the State

         15  of California with public financing programs, to my

         16  knowledge are the only jurisdictions in the United

         17  States that apply differential contribution limits

         18  to participants and non-participants within a public

         19  financing program. In every other jurisdiction,

         20  there are 12 local government jurisdictions in the

         21  country with public financing programs, and there

         22  are at least a dozen states with some type of public

         23  financing programs. All of those jurisdictions,

         24  every candidate running abides by the same

         25  contribution limits.
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          2                 Suffolk County applies its limits

          3  only to participating candidates, in main part

          4  because it's modeled on New York City programs.

          5                 Suffolk County has in fact taken the

          6  step of applying its disclosure requirements to all

          7  candidates. They have not been challenged legally on

          8  this subject, and they did so with confidence for

          9  the same reasons that I would encourage New York

         10  City to extend its laws to all candidates.

         11                 So, even Suffolk County requires

         12  non-participants to file their campaign disclosure

         13  reports electronically.

         14                 Contribution limits and campaign

         15  disclosure requirements advance the compelling

         16  government interests, avoiding corruption or the

         17  appearance of corruption, and also to ensure a

         18  well-informed electorate.

         19                 These are interests that the United

         20  States Supreme Court have repeatedly recognized as

         21  justifying contribution limits. In some cases

         22  federal courts have upheld contribution limits, as

         23  low as $100.

         24                 Here in the State of New York, the

         25  contribution limits created by state law in some
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          2  instances are ten times greater than the limits

          3  created by New York City.

          4                 The actual number, and the State uses

          5  a complicated formula to determine what its

          6  contribution limits are.

          7                 My written testimony contains a chart

          8  that demonstrates these contribution limits.

          9                 I won't go into that here, but I will

         10  reiterate that in some instances the State limits

         11  are ten times higher than the City limits.

         12                 Furthermore, State disclosure laws

         13  are full of loopholes. The Center for Governmental

         14  Studies is currently part of a joint project with

         15  the California Voter Foundation and the UCLA School

         16  of Law, called the Campaign Disclosure Project.

         17                 Last year we published a report

         18  called Grading State Disclosure. I've got a copy of

         19  that here as well, and I'd be happy to submit it for

         20  the record.

         21                 In this report we graded all 50

         22  states Campaign Finance Disclosure Laws. The State

         23  of New York received a grade of an F. They are among

         24  the worst campaign finance disclosure law states in

         25  the nation, ranking 39th out of 50 states.
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          2                 Notably, although the scope of this

          3  report and the multi-year study itself is state

          4  finance disclosure laws, the project partners felt

          5  compelled to highlight New York City's campaign

          6  disclosure law. It's the only City that's mentioned

          7  in this report.

          8                 It's mentioned because of its

          9  excellence. It's recognized nationwide for both the

         10  electronic filing disclosure component, as well as

         11  the scope and breath of the laws themselves and what

         12  information is required to be disclosed.

         13                 The fact that New York State's

         14  campaign disclosure laws are so weak and full of

         15  loopholes makes it all the more important that New

         16  York City apply its own laws to all candidates here

         17  in the state, regardless of whether or not the

         18  candidates participate in the public financing

         19  program.

         20                 I'm actually going to focus my

         21  comments specifically on this extension of laws to

         22  all candidates. The written testimony has ample

         23  justification and support for the other reforms that

         24  I've already mentioned, but I don't want to take up

         25  too much of your time.
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          2                 Regarding the legal argument, in

          3  support of extending New York City's contribution

          4  limits and disclosure requirements to all

          5  candidates, Article 9 of the New York State

          6  Constitution provides that every local government

          7  shall have power to adopt and amend local laws not

          8  inconsistent with the provisions of this

          9  Constitution or general law relating to its property

         10  affairs or government.

         11                 The Constitution specifically lists

         12  the following policy areas in which local

         13  governments may legislate: The power, duties,

         14  qualifications, number, mode of selection and

         15  removal, and terms of office of its officers and

         16  employees.

         17                 The membership in composition of its

         18  legislative body and the government protection

         19  order, conduct, safety, health and well-being of

         20  persons or property therein.

         21                 These provisions of the New York

         22  State Constitution clearly establish New York City's

         23  home rule authority to regulate City elections in

         24  all respects.

         25                 Nevertheless, local laws found to be
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          2  quote/unquote inconsistent with state law are

          3  preempted by state law. New York Courts recognize

          4  two distinct types of inconsistency, as grounds for

          5  preemption - conflict preemption and field

          6  preemption.

          7                 Conflict preemption does not apply so

          8  long as the local law is more restrictive than the

          9  State law in question, and likewise advances the

         10  state legislative purpose in enacting that law.

         11                 The proposals here before you today

         12  are both more restrictive than state law, and they

         13  advance the government's purpose for enacting State

         14  Campaign Finance Law.

         15                 The State law doesn't make its

         16  purposes clear, but I think it's safe to assume that

         17  the state enacted its laws consistent with the only

         18  purposes recognized by the United States Supreme

         19  Court for Campaign Finance Laws; specifically,

         20  avoiding corruption or the appearance of corruption,

         21  and creating an informed, well-informed electorate.

         22                 Field preemption is a closer call.

         23  Field preemption applies in an instance where the

         24  Legislature has in some way expressed either

         25  explicitly or implied, an intent to occupy an entire
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          2  field of legislation, by enacting a comprehensive

          3  and detailed regulatory scheme.

          4                 There is no expressed indication in

          5  New York State's election law of any intent by the

          6  Legislature to be the sole regulators in the field.

          7                 On the contrary, the Election Law

          8  section entitled "Applicability of Chapter," states

          9  "where a specific provision of law exists, and any

         10  other law which is inconsistent with the provisions

         11  of this Chapter, such provision shall apply, unless

         12  a provision of this Chapter specifies that such

         13  provision of this Chapter shall apply,

         14  notwithstanding any other provision of the law.

         15                 In other words, this provision

         16  clearly indicates the Legislature's intent not to be

         17  the sole regulator in the field of Campaign Finance.

         18                 State law, there is a strong argument

         19  that could be made that the State law is not

         20  comprehensive. State law contains no public

         21  financing component, and the State's disclosure law

         22  is among the weakest in the United States.

         23                 Further, there are several strong

         24  public policy considerations the Court would likely

         25  take into consideration when determining whether or
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          2  not a local law would be preempted by State law.

          3                 Public policy concerns cuts strongly

          4  in favor of the City's Home Rule authority to enact

          5  these campaign finance laws, and against preemption.

          6                 Regulation of local elections is at

          7  the very core of government operations, and there

          8  would be no impacts whatsoever outside of the City

          9  of New York.

         10                 So, in conclusion, the reforms before

         11  you today, specifically the proposal to extend the

         12  Campaign Finance laws to non-participating

         13  candidates, are vital to avoiding corruption, the

         14  appearance of corruption and ensuring a

         15  well-informed electorate.

         16                 This is at the very core of the

         17  purpose of New York City government, and the Center

         18  for Governmental studies urges you to adopt these

         19  provisions. I'd be happy to answer any questions or

         20  discuss any of these points in greater detail, if

         21  you would like me to.

         22                 Thank you very much for your

         23  attention.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 One of the concerns that keep coming

          3  up relates to the area that you were just

          4  addressing, regarding preemption. And in your look

          5  at this law, you don't see any preemption issues

          6  that we need to be concerned about?

          7                 MR. RYAN: I think that the issue of

          8  field preemption, you know, a strong argument could

          9  be made that state law does not preempt the field of

         10  campaign finance regulation. And the written

         11  testimony that I've submitted gets into fairly good

         12  detail about this. The report, the Statute of

         13  Liberty, which I will also submit for the record,

         14  has about an eight-page discussion of this legal

         15  argument.

         16                 In a nutshell, the question boils

         17  down to whether or not the state has in some way

         18  indicated that it intends to occupy the field of

         19  campaign finance legislation.

         20                 There is language within the State

         21  Election law, indicating that the state had no such

         22  intention. A specific provision stating that if any

         23  other law conflicts with the election law --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The State

         25  election law.
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          2                 MR. RYAN: State election law. If any

          3  other law conflicts with the State election law,

          4  it's the other law outside of the State's election

          5  law that rules.

          6                 An argument could be made, to be fair

          7  an argument could be made that that provision of the

          8  State's election law that says any other law trumps

          9  this law, may only apply to other state laws and not

         10  the local laws that would trump the State election

         11  law. That's not clear within the law itself, and as

         12  an attorney, I would be very comfortable making an

         13  argument before a judge that the language is plain,

         14  we need to take the plain language meaning, and

         15  there it is. Any other law will trump the State

         16  election laws in the event that there is a conflict.

         17                 Beyond that, just a plain review of

         18  New York City's Campaign Finance Law reveals that it

         19  displays the deficiencies in the State's laws.

         20                 The State's law is far from

         21  comprehensive. It is detailed by some measures, but

         22  it's by no means comprehensive. It does not contain

         23  a campaign financing, public financing component.

         24  And its disclosure provisions, as I've mentioned,

         25  are among the weakest in the United States, ranking
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          2  39th out of 50 states and receiving a grade of F in

          3  the national project of grading states that we've

          4  engaged in.

          5                 So, I'm confident that State law does

          6  not preempt New York City's law.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you know of

          8  any other jurisdiction in the country where there

          9  has been issues of preemption, similar to what might

         10  potentially arise with respect to this law, with

         11  respect to this proposed law?

         12                 MR. RYAN: There have certainly been

         13  instances where a state has attempted to exert

         14  preemptive authority, but I know of none in which

         15  the State has won that argument.

         16                 There's one instance in particular

         17  I'm thinking of. I'm a resident of the City of Los

         18  Angeles, and the City of Los Angeles' public

         19  campaign financing program rivals New York City.

         20  It's in terms of quality.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You mean it's

         22  not as good?

         23                 MR. RYAN: It's nearly. Tied for first

         24  place, perhaps.

         25                 My own home team sympathies.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We accept your

          3  prejudices in that regard.

          4                 MR. RYAN: The City of Los Angeles has

          5  a very detailed public financing program, and

          6  California State Law contains a provision that was

          7  adopted as part of a ballot measure called Prop 73

          8  in 1988 stating that no public funds may be used for

          9  local -- may be used to fund candidates campaigns.

         10  Very explicit language in California State law.

         11                 Nevertheless, the City of Los Angeles

         12  chose to adopt a public financing program and the

         13  State sued the City. The case went to the California

         14  Supreme Court, a decision by the name of Johnson

         15  versus Bradley, Tom Bradley being the Mayor of Los

         16  Angeles at the time, and Johnson being the State

         17  Legislator who authored the legislation prohibiting

         18  the use of public funds and candidates campaigns.

         19                 The California State Supreme Court,

         20  upheld the City of Los Angeles' Public Campaign

         21  Financing Law, despite explicit language in State

         22  law prohibiting it, on the grounds that regulation

         23  of local elections is at the very core of the

         24  purpose of local governments.

         25                 We create local government, charter
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          2  government, for the purpose of selecting leaders

          3  democratically to represent the community, and the

          4  case was upheld. LA's public finance program exists

          5  til today, and there is much stronger language in

          6  California State Law. I mean, New York State Law is

          7  silent on the matter, and LA went up against a very

          8  explicit prohibition of the use of public funds and

          9  they won.

         10                 As it's only fair to note that

         11  California has a reputation of providing very strong

         12  home authority to its local governments, Charter

         13  governments in particular. In California we have

         14  Charter local governments and general law local

         15  governments. General law local governments are those

         16  who have not chosen to incorporate as charter

         17  cities, they're governed by state law. Charter

         18  cities have full rein over how they govern their

         19  elections.

         20                 New York State's constitution has

         21  been evolving towards greater home rule authority,

         22  and my understanding is that it was amended, I

         23  believe, in the 1970s, to dramatically increase the

         24  strength of home rule for cities. And the Court

         25  judge-based law has also evolved over time,
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          2  regarding election issues and the courts have become

          3  increasingly willing to allow local governments to

          4  regulate their own affairs in a variety of different

          5  subject areas. There have been no cases, to my

          6  knowledge on point regarding preemption in the

          7  campaign finance regulatory area.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, just in

          9  conclusion, your sense is that the disclosure

         10  requirement for all candidates is something that is

         11  legal?

         12                 MR. RYAN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And we should

         14  have no problems from the perspective of preemption

         15  or any other aspect?

         16                 MR. RYAN: That is my position, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         18  acknowledge the presence of our Majority Whip, and

         19  Chairman of our Rules Committee, Leroy Comrie.

         20                 Are there questions from my

         21  colleagues?

         22                 Council Member Reed has a question,

         23  followed by Council Member Comrie.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I actually

         25  have a couple of questions, Mr. Chair, and I
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          2  appreciate the testimony. I think we are ever

          3  trying, as the Chair said, to fine-tune this

          4  Campaign Finance Law that we have.

          5                 And obviously, as an elected

          6  official, you know, I have to take a look at it from

          7  both perspectives, from what we are trying to

          8  provide for access into the system, as well as as a

          9  candidate, and then I'm also looking at it as a

         10  candidate who is an elected official. And I think

         11  what I keep hearing people trying to say is we have

         12  to level the playing field, we have to level the

         13  playing field, and I'm not sure what that means in

         14  some people's minds.

         15                 I'm trying to understand the

         16  motivation behind all of the ideas that are

         17  constantly put out there. So, this new issue that

         18  seems to have come up about what length of time is

         19  the requirement that we have no newsletters or

         20  things going out. I think we have some, Mr. Chair,

         21  or the staff saying I think it's less than 100

         22  pieces of mail can go out, anything above that, then

         23  all of a sudden that becomes campaigning.

         24                 I just think that's a very gray line,

         25  hard to really determine. It's ironic because I
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          2  happen to be carrying one of those compliments bags

          3  here of Peter Vallone's because it's a useful bag,

          4  it's a vestige of being old enough to have served in

          5  the previous Council. But so, I'm curious, for

          6  instance, if someone in office had these bags made

          7  up, had pencils made up, had calendars, whatever,

          8  and then at some point, you know, prior to whatever

          9  the deadline is, or the cutoff date is, would it be

         10  illegal for them to continue to hand them out?

         11  Should we go and take them away from people? If

         12  somebody showed up with the bag, would they be

         13  subject at the security desk outside to be

         14  confiscated? I'm being a little facetious, but at

         15  some point I don't quite understand what exactly

         16  we're going to try to get at here. That's perhaps

         17  what I'm asking.

         18                 Now, obviously, you know, there have

         19  been abuses of the system, so that within some time

         20  frame, all of a sudden we see major candidates on TV

         21  under the guise, we've certainly seen it with the

         22  previous administration, you know, telling us how

         23  wonderful things are in New York City. But I

         24  constantly read this thing, and I see it from the

         25  perspective of people who are trying to do a job,
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          2  get that message out, and I don't know where you

          3  slice it; do you understand what I'm saying?

          4                 I guess from a defensive position, I

          5  always feel somehow I'm being portrayed as

          6  villainess. In any campaign cycle, no matter what I

          7  do, I'm told, and I'm sure my colleagues have found

          8  themselves told, well, you're just electioneering.

          9  And I'm not sure if I hear the good government

         10  people. I certainly don't hear the Campaign Finance

         11  Board trying to respond to that.

         12                 I also find, in discussion with my

         13  colleagues, that many of them, and I think you saw

         14  it in the last cycle, just saying, you know what, I

         15  am no longer scared that I am not going to get a

         16  newspaper, particularly New York Times' endorsement.

         17  This system is too overly burdened with problems for

         18  us. I'm not going to participate, because I can't

         19  keep up with the process anymore.

         20                 So, I'm just curious, I don't hear

         21  anybody saying what about the other side? What about

         22  the elected officials that are trying to do a job,

         23  and maybe I shouldn't be raising my head up to be

         24  shot, have it shot off. But I'm curious as to how

         25  you might see the other side, particularly this
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          2  issue of things that have our names on it that we

          3  may make up to give out to our constituents. And why

          4  we're doing it? We want them to remember our name.

          5  Of course we want them to remember our name. We may

          6  give away all sorts of medallions, all sorts of

          7  things. Phil Reed's sponsors the HASA working -- the

          8  East Harlem HASA Working Group (phonetic), we had a

          9  huge success at a march and rally, we subsequently

         10  raised a significant amount of money, more

         11  importantly, a lot of awareness. People are wearing

         12  Phil Reed and the HASA Working Group T-shirts. Did

         13  they have to take those off 30 days before the

         14  election? I don't know.

         15                 MR. RYAN: Well, as a starter, I want

         16  to make it clear that I operate from the baseline

         17  premise that the overwhelming majority of elected

         18  officials and public servants generally, including

         19  appointed officials, and government employees, have

         20  the highest integrity, and are operating from a

         21  place of true commitment to public service. That

         22  being said, the United States Supreme Court has

         23  recognized repeatedly that not only do we as a

         24  society need to be concerned about corruption, we

         25  need to be just as concerned about the appearance of
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          2  corruption.

          3                 The appearance of corruption is even

          4  more pervasive, I believe, than actual corruption. I

          5  think instances of corruption are few and far

          6  between and are often caught by law enforcement

          7  officials, whether it's a Campaign Finance Board or

          8  an Ethics Board or District Attorney. But the

          9  appearance of corruption is something that is

         10  spurred by the media, and by a long history of

         11  public perception of government being within the

         12  pockets of wealthy individuals or business elites.

         13                 So, whenever we're crafting campaign

         14  finance and ethics regulations, it's critical that

         15  we balance the risks posed by any particular

         16  behavior of creating an appearance of corruption,

         17  with an elected official's ability to conduct

         18  business.

         19                 You know, I believe that the proposal

         20  before you, line drawing is always a difficult

         21  endeavor, but I believe the proposal before you

         22  draws the line in an appropriate place.

         23                 For example, 90 day, expanding the

         24  mailing period, or blackout period from 30 days to

         25  90 days.
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          2                 Drawing these lines is not an act of

          3  science. It will always be approximate. And I'm not

          4  familiar enough with the actual language of this

          5  ordinance to know whether the expenditures on tote

          6  bags, for example, what the effective date of that

          7  prohibition would be, whether it would be when the

          8  money is spent, which is typically how we craft

          9  these regulations when trying to draw a line, which

         10  would allow someone who has tote bags that they made

         11  up two years before the election sitting in their

         12  closet, they would not quite possibly be prohibited

         13  from handing them out, but I would have to take a

         14  closer look at the ordinance language, or I believe

         15  that section, that would be an amendment to the

         16  Charter language itself.

         17                 So, I'm not certain whether it

         18  prohibits expenditures within that blackout period,

         19  or distribution. I don't know it to be certain. But

         20  drawing a line is vitally important to avoiding an

         21  appearance of corruption that's widespread. The

         22  newspaper articles that you cited, the editorial

         23  boards, is evidence of public concern about the

         24  appearance of corruption. And government expenditure

         25  of resources for campaign purposes, that make, if it
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          2  were to go unchecked, it would be incredibly

          3  difficult for a challenger to compete against any

          4  incumbent, if the incumbent had unlimited wealth at

          5  their disposal in the form of government funds.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I

          7  appreciate that, Mr. Ryan. I'm not sure, I'm asking

          8  one of my colleagues here, I'm not sure at the use

          9  of the word "corruption." Corruption is quite an

         10  accusation, but we're talking -- are we talking

         11  about corruption here, or are we talking about abuse

         12  of authority?

         13                 MR. RYAN: And the reason, throughout

         14  my testimony and in my comments just a moment ago, I

         15  keep coming back to the term corruption and the

         16  appearance of corruption, because as an attorney I'm

         17  very sensitive to staying within the bounds of

         18  acceptable motivations for regulating campaign

         19  finance activities. No court has ever recognized

         20  leveling the playing field, as a compelling

         21  government interest that justified in any way

         22  regulating free speech by its First Amendment

         23  Rights.

         24                 This particular provision that you're

         25  discussing, prohibiting use of government funds to
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          2  campaign, it touches on corruption in that a

          3  challenger who wants to run for public office, I

          4  think would rightfully interpret a political system

          5  or a government which seated office holders have

          6  unlimited access to spend government funds, to

          7  promote their name and to stave off any potential

          8  challengers as a corrupt government.

          9                 I am perfectly happy using less,

         10  perhaps accusatory terms than corruption or

         11  appearance of corruption, but I tend to do so

         12  because I'm used to discussing these things in a

         13  legal context.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, we could

         15  argue that. I have one other question, but certainly

         16  it's not unlimited funds that we have here in this

         17  City to do this.

         18                 The other question I have, and it's

         19  an issue that perhaps is not addressed specifically

         20  in this bill because it was omitted by compromise

         21  from this bill, but it's something that I'd like to

         22  get the question publicly on the record, and I know

         23  other of my colleagues are concerned about it, Mr.

         24  Chair, so if you would indulge me for just a moment?

         25  Because perhaps before we finalize this bill, we
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          2  might revisit the issue or look at it in the future.

          3  But the Campaign Finance Board, in their wisdom, has

          4  ruled that no money, public money from the campaign

          5  fund can be expended on any sort of celebration, or

          6  God forbid we should use the word party, to

          7  acknowledge our -- thank you, Eva, for smiling -- to

          8  thank the people who have worked selflessly for us,

          9  to get us elected.

         10                 In fact, they now have a new system,

         11  which I think is just about as ridiculous as it

         12  could be, that in order to spend any money for a

         13  swearing in ceremony and an inauguration, now let's

         14  remember, there are only 59 people that are going to

         15  do this, because all the other people didn't win,

         16  but in order to do any of that, you have to, after

         17  the November election, you have to now start up a

         18  brand new committee, open up a brand new bank

         19  account, start all over again, and raise some more

         20  money to have a celebration to recognize in public,

         21  often times in this very room, or as I did last week

         22  in a public school, in order to be able to do this

         23  for your community.

         24                 Many of us think that if in fact we

         25  were to have money left over, that within some
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          2  spending limit we ought to be able to expend that

          3  money, a certain amount of money to have that

          4  festivity. And I'm curious as to what you might

          5  think about that.

          6                 MR. RYAN: Well, first I want to take

          7  a step back to respond to your comment that preceded

          8  your question. You had stated that certainly in New

          9  York City you would not and do not have access to

         10  unlimited funds, for promoting your own names and

         11  candidacies, and I would suggest that's precisely

         12  because lines have been drawn, and this is another

         13  effort to further fine-tune the lines that have been

         14  drawn that in some way regulate or restrict the

         15  amount of resources that elected officials have at

         16  their disposal which might be used to promote their

         17  own candidacies or names.

         18                 But to address the question you just

         19  asked, the comments that you've just made, I think

         20  that it's wholly fair to prohibit the use, or limit

         21  the use of public campaign funds for throwing

         22  parties and festivities, because such government

         23  resources are limited, and it's a difficult enough

         24  sell to the public to fully fund public financing

         25  programs, to fund the vital act of getting your name
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          2  out before an election and trying to educate voters

          3  as to what you stand for. I think tight reins need

          4  to be placed on the use of public funds.

          5                 Further, in my experience of

          6  observing elected officials, monitoring their

          7  campaign fundraising and spending, but with the

          8  disclosure that I have never been elected to public

          9  office, I've never had to engage in the process

         10  personally, it's my experience that elected

         11  officials typically have little or no difficulty

         12  raising money after an election. Once you've been

         13  elected to office, campaign contributors in my

         14  experience typically line up, they're more than

         15  happy to support you at that point.

         16                 Prior to the election, it's a bet

         17  more or less. Most campaign contributors are not

         18  expecting a quid pro quo exchange of a contribution

         19  for public policy, but they often do expect access

         20  to the individuals to whom they give a contribution.

         21                 There is no better time to make a

         22  contribution that may result in making a friend at

         23  City Hall, that once that individual has been

         24  elected to office. So, I'm not particularly

         25  sympathetic to the problem, or proposed problem that
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          2  you have to establish a new account after the

          3  election and raise money after the election, because

          4  my experience is that elected officials typically

          5  don't have difficulty doing that.

          6                 And, in fact, you've touched on a

          7  very, inadvertently, perhaps, touched on a very

          8  important area of campaign finance regulation that

          9  is an issue across the nation but not necessarily

         10  here in New York City, and that is an issue of

         11  candidate loans. In the State of California, for

         12  example, we had a recent gubernatorial recall

         13  election in which the Governor loaned his campaign

         14  $4.5 million, many believe with the intent of

         15  repaying it after the election, specifically because

         16  he knew he would have no problem raising the money

         17  after the election and the identity of the

         18  contributors would not be revealed to the public

         19  until after the election if he engaged in this

         20  endeavor.

         21                 In many people's minds, fortunately

         22  California State Court prohibited him from doing

         23  that in a judgment that came down about two weeks

         24  ago. But hopefully that's answered your question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, it's part
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          2  of it. I'm not going to belabor that question today,

          3  but I wanted to make sure it gets on the record,

          4  particularly, Mr. Chair, as something that many of

          5  us would like to see pursued. As it is now, we're

          6  prohibited from spending any portion of that money

          7  that's raised, even if it's beyond the public

          8  financing portion of it.

          9                 So, we may have money that we've

         10  raised that we've reported that is not a part of the

         11  matching funds, and we still can't spend it.

         12                 And, so, that really becomes

         13  problematic, and that's part of this how do you roll

         14  that money over, what do you do with it, that is an

         15  issue that we should continue to look at.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes. Thank you

         18  very much, Council Member Reed. It is a concern that

         19  has been brought to our attention by several

         20  members, not only of this Committee but the body in

         21  general, and I guess it's something that we will

         22  have to look into and make sure that it is given its

         23  full airing and review.

         24                 I want to acknowledge Mike Nelson,

         25  Council Member Michael Nelson, the Chair of our
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          2  Revenue Forecasting Committee; Council Member Joseph

          3  Addabbo, who is the Chair of our Civil Service and

          4  Labor Committee; and Council Member Peter Vallone,

          5  Jr., who is he Chairperson of our Public Safety

          6  Committee.

          7                 We now have a question from Council

          8  Member Leroy Comrie.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 I have a concern that I'll raise when

         12  the Chair comes back. Juts a couple of questions for

         13  you, Mr. Ryan.

         14                 You said you originally studied the

         15  Los Angeles system?

         16                 MR. RYAN: Yes, I have conducted

         17  studies --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: How is that

         19  Board constituted?

         20                 MR. RYAN: The Los Angeles Ethics

         21  Commission you're referring to?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Who runs the

         23  Campaign Finance --

         24                 MR. RYAN: It's administered by the LA

         25  City Ethics Commission, and it is constituted by
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          2  five members who are appointed by various City

          3  officials, the Mayor has one appointment, City

          4  Attorney, another Citywide elective office has an

          5  appointment. City Comptroller, the third Citywide

          6  Elective Office has an appointment. Speaker of the

          7  City Council has an appointment, as well as the --

          8  well, it's the President of the City Council, the

          9  President Pro-Tem, as well, who is the second in

         10  command of the City Council.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Those serve at

         12  the pleasure of those elected officials that appoint

         13  them?

         14                 MR. RYAN: No, they serve a single

         15  five-year term, and their appointment is confirmed,

         16  but it's not necessarily at the pleasure. They are

         17  not removed. I've never known of one being removed

         18  for any purpose. They're basically appointed and

         19  then they are insulated, the theory is at least that

         20  they are insulated from political pressures, (a)

         21  because they are only eligible to serve one term, so

         22  they aren't worried about reappointment, and they

         23  will not be removed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And what

         25  about the staff and the Board?
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          2                 MR. RYAN: I believe the Los Angeles

          3  Ethics Commission has a staff of approximately, I

          4  believe between 25 and 30 individuals, and it varies

          5  depending on whether they're in an election year or

          6  not. They hire on additional people in election

          7  years.

          8                 The executive director, a woman named

          9  Leon Pelham, has testifed before the New York City

         10  Campaign Finance Board on several occasions, as I'm

         11  aware of. She serves at the pleasure of the Ethics

         12  Commission itself.

         13                 The Commission is a part-time, unpaid

         14  appointed position. The Executive Director of the

         15  Ethics Commission is a full-time paid position, as

         16  well as the other 25 to 30 staff persons.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And that

         18  executive director serves at the pleasure of the

         19  Board itself?

         20                 MR. RYAN: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: They hire and

         22  fire that person under their own autonomy?

         23                 MR. RYAN: That's correct?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And they have

         25  that ability with just her or the entire staff of
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          2  the Commission?

          3                 MR. RYAN: I'm not certain. I believe

          4  that it's just with regards to the executive

          5  director, but I'm not certain.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And are

          7  they on-line? Could we look at their procedures and

          8  policies and practices?

          9                 MR. RYAN: Yes, the LA City Ethics

         10  Commission has an excellent website, including a

         11  very thorough campaign finance disclosure component

         12  of their website, and to my knowledge there has been

         13  quite a bit of advice sharing so-to-speak, between

         14  the New York City Campaign Finance Board and the LA

         15  City Ethics Commission.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Whose was

         17  first?

         18                 MR. RYAN: Excuse me?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Whose was

         20  first? Who started first with Campaign Finance?

         21                 MR. RYAN: New York City Campaign

         22  Finance Board was established a year before LA's.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you know

         24  that website that you could share with us?

         25                 MR. RYAN: I'm sorry, I don't know the
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          2  web itself. But LA City Ethics Commission. If you

          3  were to search Google LA City Ethics Commission, you

          4  would find it without a problem.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 All right, I have some other

          7  questions that I said I'll wait for the Chair to

          8  come back on, as regarding the bills.

          9                 You've read the entire new version of

         10  the bill?

         11                 MR. RYAN: I have skimmed the proposed

         12  bill and I have read the legislative analyst report,

         13  analyzing it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 MR. RYAN: I forgot to mention during

         16  my testimony, also with regards to the Home Rule

         17  Authority question, Professor Richard Bafall of

         18  Columbia University, likewise has produced a memo, I

         19  think a very well argued and reasoned memo, that

         20  explores the whole legal question itself. And I had

         21  also consulted with Professor Bafall when I was

         22  writing Statute of Liberty, my report, and I believe

         23  I was the first person in the country to suggest

         24  that New York City has the legal authority to extend

         25  its laws to non-participating candidates.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 I would like to ask some other

          5  questions of the other panels. I'm concerned about

          6  the fact that Campaign Finance did not feel the need

          7  to show up today, and I want to express my

          8  indignation of that. There are some issues that we

          9  really need to go over with them, that they have not

         10  been responsive, responded to, in a public forum and

         11  it needs to be done. And I have some general

         12  unreadiness with the expressed authority that's

         13  written in this document in many different places,

         14  and we need to explore that as a body in public,

         15  with the way that expressed authority is pervasive

         16  within this document, giving campaign finance

         17  unlimited autonomy to make sole source decisions.

         18                 I have a real problem with that. I

         19  think that it's something that we need to explore

         20  before this bill is let.

         21                 I want the Campaign Finance Program

         22  to work. I think it's a great program for the City.

         23  It allows for people to get involved in a larger

         24  level than they ever had before, but I'm concerned

         25  about expressed authority for any one entity that's
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          2  looking at a public campaign, that's looking at

          3  campaigns that are evolving, and campaigns with

          4  nuances and cultural -- not cultural issues, but

          5  area issues that are different that need to be

          6  expressed fully publicly and vetted publicly. And I

          7  have real issues with the fact that they are not

          8  here today to re-express their opinion. The fact

          9  that they have not shown up is I think a slap in the

         10  face to this Board, this Chair, and all the members

         11  of the Committee. I'm very unready to pass this

         12  bill. I would not vote for this bill if it was

         13  continued to be presented to us in this manner, and

         14  also that we have some real opportunity to change

         15  the wording of this bill. There were some changes

         16  that were suggested at the last meeting. I had an

         17  opportunity to read it. We got the same bill back

         18  verbatim. I'd like to know when we're going to make

         19  some opportunity to make some real changes in this

         20  bill?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, there's

         22  clearly going to be the opportunity to make some

         23  real changes. There are going to be several hearings

         24  on this bill. As I pointed out in my opening

         25  statement, some of the concerns that you raised were
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          2  raised in my opening statement, so we are being

          3  responsive to some of the concerns you have, and, of

          4  course, the Campaign Finance Board will have to be

          5  responsive to some of the concerns that you have and

          6  we'll make sure that that happens. But there's no

          7  question about the fact that this bill, like 99

          8  percent of the bills that come before this Council

          9  will go through revisions, and those revisions to a

         10  large extent will be determined by what we get from

         11  these hearings and what input we get from you and

         12  the other members.

         13                 So, I appreciate your concern. I look

         14  forward to sitting with you, as we did with your

         15  staff yesterday or the day before yesterday to air

         16  out those concerns, and get a full appreciation of

         17  them.  And, again, we will have additional hearings.

         18  We're obviously not voting today, I hope you realize

         19  that.

         20                 Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

         22  be clear. I know we're not voting today, but this

         23  bill, there's some time lines that need to be

         24  respected on the issues that we're clear on, and we

         25  need to separate out those issues that the Committee
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          2  is not. And I'm interested. Again, I'm not trying to

          3  say that the Campaign Finance Program doesn't work,

          4  I'm concerned that the Campaign Finance Program is a

          5  program that's clear, and open, and that the policy

          6  is a Citywide open policy, that their practices are

          7  open, that there is nothing that members or anyone

          8  that would want to participate in it, has to be

          9  concerned about equal opportunity, equal access, and

         10  a clear, clear lines of responsibility.

         11                 And I think that once you get people

         12  unfettered authority for -- to quote two or three

         13  times in this document, "single authority," there's

         14  a dangerous practice that I have to raise a red flag

         15  on. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         17  indulge my colleague, Ms. Moskowitz, and I believe

         18  Eric Gioia was next on the list. I called you out of

         19  turn. Eric Gioia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes, thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 But Council Member, if you would like

         23  to speak, I'm more than happy to let you go first.

         24  If you want to.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: That's very
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          2  gentlemanly of you. Thank you very much. I'll be

          3  brief.

          4                 Mr. Chair, I want to thank you for

          5  the incredible time you've spent on this bill. This

          6  is the second Campaign Finance bill I believe under

          7  your chairmanship, and these are very technical,

          8  very complicated issues.

          9                 The flip side of that, though, is

         10  that the Administration came here at the last

         11  hearing and complained bitterly about the process

         12  not being open, not being sufficient public

         13  dialogue, and I find it ironic that they're skipping

         14  today's hearing in light of those specific

         15  complaints.

         16                 I'm very, very proud to serve in a

         17  Council that has such a deliberative process where

         18  we're trying to get to the bottom of these issues.

         19                 I just want to briefly say that the

         20  point that my colleague, Council Member Reed raised

         21  was one that we have brought up for a number of

         22  years, that there are some sort of technical

         23  problems with the implementation of parties being

         24  one of several, and I would hope that at some point

         25  we could get to those issues.
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          2                 But my question is about the

          3  requirement for disclosure of information for those

          4  non-participants, and I would agree that it in some

          5  ways is a huge step forward to require that

          6  non-participants, nonetheless provide an accounting

          7  of their expenditures and in-coming funds, and I

          8  have always thought that there was nothing in

          9  Buckley versus Vallejo that prohibited a local

         10  government from imposing the requirements, even if

         11  they couldn't impose the cap or individual spending

         12  limit.

         13                 My concern, having run against two

         14  self-financed candidates, is that those candidates

         15  who do not subscribe to the cap or the individual

         16  limit, will be able to claim that they're

         17  participants in the program, even though they're

         18  only complying with one aspect of the program.

         19                 How do we address that issue? What is

         20  the nomenclature that allows that issue to come up

         21  in public debate? Because the candidate can say, no,

         22  I am participating in the program?

         23                 MR. RYAN: It's a great question. And

         24  it's a question that's unique to New York City,

         25  because in other jurisdictions the disclosure
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          2  requirements and the contribution limits have

          3  nothing to do with the public financing programs.

          4  Every candidate who runs for office in every other

          5  jurisdiction outside of the State of New York must

          6  abide by the City's disclosure requirements and the

          7  contribution limits.

          8                 The Public Financing Program is an

          9  entirely separate component that was inspired, if

         10  you will, by a footnote in the Buckley versus

         11  Vallejo Decision that you've already noted, 1976

         12  Supreme Court case, in which the Supreme Court

         13  struck down mandatory spending limits under federal

         14  law and said in a footnote, "but if spending limits

         15  were contingent upon a candidate's receipt of public

         16  financing funds, and therefore voluntary, they would

         17  be permissible under the constitution."

         18                 That's what's spurring public

         19  financing programs at the state level around the

         20  country, and at the local government level as well.

         21                 So, dealing with the nomenclature, it

         22  shouldn't be a difficult question. I think that the

         23  dialogue that should take place here in New York

         24  City as all candidates, regardless of the existence

         25  of the Public Financing Program, must abide by the
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          2  City's disclosure requirements, as well as their

          3  contribution limits.

          4                 The term "participating candidate,"

          5  in my mind should apply only to those candidates who

          6  agree to spending limits in exchange for public

          7  financing.

          8                 There is a new category proposed to

          9  be created by this law for intermediate level of

         10  participation, as well, for candidates who agree to

         11  the spending limits but not for public financing.

         12  But in a nutshell, I think the dialogue should be

         13  framed so that only those candidates who agree to

         14  spending limits are participants, period. And those

         15  who do not are not participants, they simply need to

         16  abide by the City's disclosure and contribution

         17  limits.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, in a sense

         19  what we've done with this, if I may? This is two

         20  laws potentially in one that may be giving

         21  non-participants sort of a loose opportunity to

         22  claim that they're participants. When, in fact, if

         23  there was one bill that said all candidates that

         24  disclose, then they would be complying with this

         25  disclosure law. And then participants in the
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          2  Campaign Finance Program, there would be another law

          3  that said, okay, you are a participant if you comply

          4  with the Campaign Finance program, as opposed to

          5  just simply saying I'm a participant because I've

          6  disclosed.

          7                 I think that's an important

          8  distinction in terms of how we can get around the

          9  concern that's being expressed here.

         10                 MR. RYAN: To put it more clearly, the

         11  term participation includes an element of

         12  volunteerism, okay? We do not call people who agree

         13  to not murder people within the City of New York

         14  participants in the City's criminal laws. If we

         15  establish, or if you were to establish here within

         16  the City of New York, mandatory contribution limits

         17  and disclosure requirements as the baseline law, it

         18  has nothing to do with volunteering or

         19  participating, it's simply the law and you comply

         20  with the law.

         21                 You have the option, which was

         22  necessitated by the Supreme Court's striking down of

         23  mandatory spending limits, you have the option of

         24  volunteering to comply with spending limits, and in

         25  exchange for that willingness, you've become
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          2  eligible to receive public funds. But that issue

          3  should really be segregated and distinguished from

          4  simply complying with the City's contribution limits

          5  and disclosure laws.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Council

          7  Member Gioia, thank you very much for your courtesy.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. And

          9  thank you very much for your testimony here today.

         10                 I agree with you in that, even better

         11  than Los Angeles, New York City has really what

         12  should be the template for every municipality and

         13  every state in the country, and the best Campaign

         14  Finance laws.

         15                 The Johnson v. Bradley Decision was

         16  very interesting. In holding, although it's only

         17  persuasive, I suppose, in New York courts, I agree

         18  with you that we're not preempted from legislating

         19  in this area at all, and so we could require people

         20  to do just what this law does. But the larger point

         21  is very interesting. You say that New York State

         22  gets an F; was it your organization that graded it?

         23                 MR. RYAN: It was a joint project

         24  between the UCLA School of Law, the California Voter

         25  Foundation and my organization, the Center for
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          2  Governmental Studies. It's a multi-year study that's

          3  funded by the Charitable Trust, a joint

          4  collaborative effort.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Job well done.

          6  New York State, F. Worst grade. Worst Campaign

          7  Finance system you could imagine. If we sat down

          8  right now and tried to come up with a really bad

          9  law, we'd probably come up with this. If we said,

         10  how do we try to bring big money in, how to bring

         11  corporate money in, how do we really keep the public

         12  out of it, how do we make disclosure as difficult to

         13  understand as possible, we'd probably write the

         14  State Campaign Finance System. In contrast to New

         15  York City, where you've got the best Campaign

         16  Finance System.

         17                 So, why would anyone ever not

         18  participate in the New York City Campaign Finance

         19  System? If you're a candidate, if you're someone who

         20  is running for public office, with the goal of

         21  becoming a public servant, and you're the best

         22  Campaign Finance System in New York City, why in the

         23  world would someone ever opt out and choose to go

         24  with the wild west system of the New York State

         25  Campaign Finance System?
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          2                 MR. RYAN: I think the term "best" and

          3  "worst" are relative to the individual that you're

          4  considering, the perspective of the individual

          5  you're considering.

          6                 If you're looking at this from the

          7  perspective of a voter in the State of New York, or

          8  in the City of New York, specifically, then New York

          9  City's law is the best law. If you're looking at

         10  this from the perspective of a candidate who perhaps

         11  has extensive access to wealthy campaign

         12  contributors, it's quite possible they wouldn't

         13  consider a spending limit, and contribution limits

         14  to be in their best interest campaign-wise. They

         15  wouldn't characterize it as the best law, they may

         16  prefer to run within a wild west lawless system,

         17  it's all relative.

         18                 But who really matters? I mean, the

         19  laws exist to protect and for the benefit of the

         20  residents of the City and State of New York, and

         21  from their perspective and in their interest, New

         22  York City's law is the best.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And I agree.

         24  And I think that's the exact point I'm trying to

         25  make, is that there's no public policy rationale
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          2  forever going outside of the New York City Campaign

          3  Finance System. And you're right to say that there

          4  is perhaps a rationale for a candidate, because by

          5  gaining the system, by almost venue shopping you can

          6  find a better set of rules that benefit you

          7  personally as a candidate, but that actually do not

          8  benefit the public at large. And that is precisely

          9  what I think I'd argue has happened in New York

         10  City, and one of the reasons I think it's important

         11  that we continue. You know, someone said to me, "why

         12  do you change the law every year?" "Why is the

         13  Campaign Finance Board coming forward every year and

         14  changing the rules that makes it so hard to follow?"

         15                 And I said, "Because a good law, a

         16  good document, is a living document. And that you

         17  continually try to update it and change it to make

         18  it better and more responsive to the actual facts

         19  that are occurring in a City."

         20                 That being said, let me ask you this,

         21  and this is a follow-up on Council Member Reed, who

         22  is certainly not villainess. I don't know if he's

         23  here. You raised a very interesting point. If the

         24  law actually becomes too burdensome, can you see a

         25  point where it just does become, for many
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          2  candidates, it just doesn't make sense now for me to

          3  participate in this system, and because we have to

          4  operate in New York where there is this dichotomy

          5  between a system that freely let's big money flow

          6  in, and a much better system, could we, do we risk

          7  getting to a point where more and more candidates

          8  are opting out, because as you rightfully pointed

          9  out, it's in their self-interest to do so?

         10                 MR. RYAN: Within the proposal that's

         11  before you, I believe that you do not go too far,

         12  you do not create a system that is too burdensome

         13  for candidates. And on the contrary, in preparation

         14  of the study I published, "The Statute of Liberty,"

         15  I interviewed a large number of candidates who have

         16  run for public office, some who won, some who didn't

         17  win, some who are democrats, some who are

         18  republican, and I was told almost uniformly by

         19  candidates that they loved the system. They could

         20  not have run, would not have run, without the public

         21  financing component combined with term limits. Term

         22  limits are also a factor, it's difficult to separate

         23  that out. If you're trying to quantify the impact of

         24  public financing, it's almost -- I would say it is

         25  impossible to quantify it, aside from or not
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          2  including the term limits effect. But at any rate,

          3  candidates loved the system. And that being said, it

          4  is possible that somewhere down the road you create

          5  a system that's too burdensome, you create

          6  disincentives for candidate participation. But the

          7  fact of the matter is, here in New York City you

          8  have participation levels that are among the highest

          9  of any public financing program in the United

         10  States, candidates repeatedly state that they love

         11  the program. There is a lot of benefit in opting

         12  into the City's program, the receipt of large

         13  amounts of public funds.

         14                 I also want to just clarify that this

         15  grading state disclosure report, in which the New

         16  York State Campaign Finance Disclosure Law was given

         17  an F, it was only the disclosure laws that we

         18  graded, it wasn't the whole state's campaign finance

         19  law, and so I wanted to make that clear.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         21                 One other point I just wanted to also

         22  raise. The 90-day provision, and I understand the

         23  legislative intent behind it, and in some cases,

         24  particularly I think in the cases of the 1990s where

         25  you've got television ads and radio ads and that
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          2  sort of thing. There is merit to it, and you can

          3  really see the problems that you're trying to

          4  prevent.

          5                 My concern is that, and I'm glad you

          6  mention the term limits, because I mean we all know

          7  the thing about incumbency in America is that

          8  incumbents very rarely lose. In the Congress I don't

          9  know what the percentage is, but I've seen numerous

         10  studies over the years, and it's somewhere in the

         11  high 90 percent rate of people being re-elected and

         12  re-elected and re-elected.

         13                 The term limits diminishes that

         14  substantially, in that we know every eight years in

         15  New York City we're going to have a new group of

         16  folks up here. And, so, the idea of someone being

         17  here for 40 years, because they've rolled over a

         18  huge bank roll, and because of the name recognition,

         19  is not so much a concern.

         20                 My concern with the 90-day spending

         21  provision, is that in a two-year term -- and the way

         22  it's currently written it's 90 days from an

         23  election, it's also 90 days from a primary. So, if

         24  you start office on January 1st, 2002, and you've

         25  got a primary September 5th, 2004, I suppose, you
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          2  know, 2003 I guess it would be, then you're back --

          3  and I'm terrible at math, but 90 days prior to that

          4  September, you see what we've done is by blocking

          5  out 180 days, half a year, that's half a year when

          6  by this law, except for a few minor exceptions, you

          7  can only communicate with your constituents on a

          8  budget newsletter, or I guess in a case of a public

          9  emergency.

         10                 And I guess I would tend to read that

         11  and think, and you're right, there's nothing

         12  scientific about this, it's kind of, you know, what

         13  do you feel and what do you think? And I guess I

         14  look at that and I think it probably is overly

         15  cautious, in that I think that it goes a little too

         16  far in that it actually I think interferes with a

         17  legitimate government function of communicating with

         18  the stakeholders, the citizens, the voters, too far

         19  before an election.

         20                 So, I will tend to argue that, and

         21  I'm sure we'll have more discussions over the next

         22  month or so.

         23                 But I mean, you're right. I mean,

         24  there's no definitive clear answer to it. I can't

         25  prove to you that I think it's 45 days and that's
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          2  much better, or 60 days or 30 days. I mean, as you

          3  said, it's not scientific.

          4                 But I guess I just will say to you,

          5  and I suppose there's not really much of a question

          6  in here, just really kind of my opinion that it goes

          7  too far in interfering with the way a good

          8  government actually would work by having constant

          9  communication with your constituents. That's all.

         10                 MR. RYAN: I just have one responding

         11  comment with regard to the term limit issue.

         12                 In the potential of term limits to

         13  reduce the need for this type of regulation, if

         14  candidates aren't going to be running for

         15  re-election, is this really a concern, I would just

         16  caution you that while I haven't studied the impact

         17  of term limits closely here in the State of New

         18  York, In California we've seen a dramatic rise in

         19  what essentially is a game of musical chairs. You

         20  have State Legislators running for City Council, for

         21  Mayor, mayors moving up to the State Legislature. In

         22  fact, in the City of Los Angeles we have one Council

         23  member who spent many years as the Speaker of the

         24  California State Legislature, Antonio Viagorsa

         25  (phonetic), who ran for Mayor, lost, ran for

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Council, won. People are still campaigning, people

          3  who want to be involved in politics, which isn't a

          4  bad thing at all in my mind. They are going to

          5  continue running for office. So the impact of

          6  spending public money to promote your name is just

          7  as severe.

          8                 But I understand your concerns, and I

          9  encourage this group to vigorously discuss and

         10  debate whether or not there should be more

         11  exceptions to the proposed law, how you can send

         12  mail, but I think that the proposal is a good one.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You raise an

         14  excellent point. And California is still I think

         15  with examples like that, Willie Brown being, of

         16  course, one of them.

         17                 And I think term limits in New York

         18  probably has caused more cardiologist visits in

         19  Albany and will do so as we approach 2009, I think

         20  that's right. The question is, though, what does

         21  that then do to the -- we have two systems, the

         22  State system, much freer, you can spend money,

         23  public money as well as campaign money, up to the

         24  elections. In some ways you really would be giving

         25  advantage to those who are not participating in this
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          2  system, in other words a State Legislator would be

          3  spending right up to day 31, which I believe is

          4  State law 30 days before any election, I think

          5  that's the state law.

          6                 So, I mean I think you raise really

          7  valid points I think that we should be mindful of.

          8                 MR. RYAN: I think given the huge size

          9  of the State's contribution limit, candidates state

         10  office holders, they're going to be, they could be

         11  raising and spending in an unlimited fashion anyway.

         12  But I think you raise a good point, there may be

         13  advantages enjoyed by candidates who are running

         14  under state law.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Nelson.

         19                 I'm sorry, Provenzano.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I can

         21  understand why you would want to bypass me, but...

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I would never

         23  want to bypass you. As a matter of fact, quite the

         24  opposite.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I'm going
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          2  to try and be brief, although nobody else tried, but

          3  I'll make points with Bill.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: There's a

          7  few comments or statements that you made that kind

          8  of peaked my ire a little bit. One of them is --

          9  well, several of them, I guess, are sort of putting

         10  California up there as a model for campaign finance,

         11  for several things, actually. And when I look at

         12  what's happening in California these days, it

         13  doesn't give me much hope. So, I don't agree with

         14  the analysis. I'd rather concentrate on us.

         15                 California is in worse trouble than

         16  we are financially. Also, in response to Councilman

         17  Gioia's question, one of the statements you made,

         18  and I may be confused because I have all kinds of

         19  notes here, folks that do not opt into campaign

         20  finance spend a large -- need to raise a lot of

         21  money, can get money from places that those that opt

         22  in cannot, and so they spend a lot of money, a large

         23  amount of money.

         24                 I've run three elections. I've never

         25  opted into campaign finance. The last two, I was the

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  only one of 51 Council members and the gazillion

          3  other folks that were running, that didn't take

          4  public funds.

          5                 2003 I had two opponents. One

          6  received $100,000 from public funds, the other

          7  receives between 50 and 60.

          8                 I raised my own money, spent it like

          9  it was my own money, which to me is a key in

         10  campaign finance. When you get money handed to you,

         11  you spend it like there's more where this came from.

         12  There is no responsibility and very little

         13  accountability, I find, from campaign finance.

         14                 I spent $42,000 in my campaign.

         15  Obviously, I won, I'm sitting here. 2001 I had one

         16  candidate. He got $137,000 from campaign finance. In

         17  that campaign I spent $38,000.

         18                 I think part of the problem in

         19  handing folks all this money is that there's

         20  unnecessary spending.

         21                 Eric said he didn't take any public

         22  money either. Wait a minute, we'll discuss who you

         23  ran against. I had serious competition. I would like

         24  to throw that in also.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're going to

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  have to focus -- I'm not going to stop you, I just

          3  want us to focus because we have some other

          4  important folks that want to testify.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So,

          6  obviously, I'm not a fan of campaign finance. I do

          7  totally believe in disclosure requirements. I think

          8  it's necessary, I think it's important. The way I

          9  see campaign finance going, I haven't been thrilled

         10  by it.

         11                 You also mentioned, in answer to

         12  Council Member Reed, talking about swearing in

         13  ceremonies, et cetera, we talked about frivolous

         14  parties, and spending for these kinds of things,

         15  which you kind of thought was a no no. I think that

         16  some of the things that folks that get campaign

         17  finance money for are very frivolous, that's where I

         18  was.

         19                 When I look at the kinds of things

         20  that my opponents spend money on, it's totally

         21  ridiculous. $10,000 for a computer, which they can

         22  keep, by the way.

         23                 You also mentioned in the first

         24  paragraph, the very last sentence of your testimony,

         25  bla bla bla bla bla,..."all of this has been
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          2  achieved for a tiny fraction of the City's budget.

          3  In 2001 we spent $53 million on campaign finance.

          4  That's a lot of money in this City. This is a tiny

          5  fraction of the total? Yes. But we can do a lot of

          6  things with $53 million in this City.

          7                 I guess there's two questions that I

          8  would like to put in front of you. One of them is,

          9  apparently you've done a lot of research into this

         10  and spent a lot of time on it, do you have any idea,

         11  and this may not be your area of expertise, what an

         12  eight to one match would cost this City?

         13                 I happen to think eight to one is

         14  obscene.

         15                 MR. RYAN: Well, first I'd like to

         16  respond to some of your concerns with my comment.

         17  And I want to correct what is obviously the

         18  misimpression that I've created that I think

         19  California is a model.

         20                 In fact, New York City is the model,

         21  and what I'm proposing is that New York City's laws

         22  be extended to cover candidates who not only abide

         23  by New York State Law. California's Campaign Finance

         24  laws are a mess. I think LA, City of LA has good

         25  Campaign Finance laws. I think New York City is the
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          2  model here, though. It is among the best in the

          3  nation. So, I don't want to be perceived as coming

          4  here from California and saying California is where

          5  you all need to be at, that's what you need to be

          6  doing.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And did

          8  Arnold spend his own money when he was running?

          9                 MR. RYAN: Arnold has engaged in a

         10  tremendous amount of fundraising after the election

         11  to repay loans that he had made to his own campaign.

         12  So, he spent his money. He's actually holding a

         13  $500,000 a plate fundraiser here in New York City,

         14  raising money for a ballot measure committed. So,

         15  Arnold is a very skilled fundraiser when it comes to

         16  getting money from private contributors. He's

         17  engaged in both.

         18                 And as far as the inauguration

         19  parties go, I certainly didn't use the word

         20  frivolous, and one of the Council members may have.

         21  I don't think inauguration parties are frivolous. I

         22  don't think thanking your campaign workers is a

         23  frivolous expenditure of money.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: No, you

         25  did, because I wrote it down when you said it.
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          2                 MR. RYAN: But what I do believe is

          3  that public funds shouldn't necessarily be spent for

          4  parties after the election. And I think that's fair.

          5  And I hold that belief for many of the reasons

          6  you've stated with regards to the cost of public

          7  financing programs to begin with.

          8                 The dollar amounts are large, and,

          9  yes, it is a tiny fraction of the budget, in terms

         10  of percentages. I agree that there is a lot you can

         11  do with the amount of money New York City has spent

         12  on public financing, but I also, I also assert that

         13  democracy, funding democracy, creating the ability

         14  for candidates, regardless of their access to

         15  wealth, to run for public office, to represent their

         16  communities, is a very important area for government

         17  expenditures.

         18                 To answer your question specifically,

         19  do I know how much the eight to one match will cost?

         20  I haven't done the math on it. I do not know how

         21  much it would cost. And I suspect that the Campaign

         22  Finance Board has done some projections. It's

         23  certainly possible to project, by looking at the

         24  number of races in which the eight to one match

         25  would have applied in recent election cycles, and
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          2  conduct the math, but I haven't done it personally.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Well,

          4  maybe our Corp Counsel might know. They will be

          5  testifying.

          6                 Just to get into a little bit the

          7  democratic process and democracy in action and all

          8  that stuff, I am unsure that the people of this City

          9  realize that every taxpayer in this City supports

         10  every single candidate that runs for office in this

         11  City. And I think if they were approached

         12  one-on-one, they would probably be astounded that

         13  they do, and would say that they didn't want to

         14  contribute to everyone's campaign. That's another

         15  problem I have with Campaign Finance.

         16                 In a way I'm sorry I'm taking it out

         17  on you. If Campaign Finance Board was here, I'd love

         18  to take it out on them.

         19                 MR. RYAN: May I respond to that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, not yet. In

         22  all fairness to all my Committee members, there are

         23  folks that are here to testify that I know you want

         24  to hear from, signaling to me that they have to

         25  leave. So, I want to ask you, when it's time to
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          2  respond, to respond briefly. And I indulge my

          3  members to be succinct, only because --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: But it's a

          5  little late to indulge the members to be brief, when

          6  I'm the last one of like eight.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm allowing you

          8  to ask what you want to ask, but I'm now setting

          9  some ground rules after you, in order to not lose

         10  the other witnesses.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You were

         12  responding, I think, to me.

         13                 MR. RYAN: Reask your question,

         14  please.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I talked

         16  about Campaign Finance not being here.

         17                 MR. RYAN: I was simply going to say

         18  that between the years of 1998 and 2001, New York

         19  City's Campaign Finance Program, public financing

         20  program, costs City residents an average of 57 cents

         21  per year. And I don't know if City residents would

         22  be appalled by that figure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: 2001

         24  campaign, $53 million.

         25                 MR. RYAN: Between 1998 and 2001, an
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          2  average of 57 cents a year.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So what do

          4  they have to spend money on?

          5                 Okay, I thank you. Again, I'm sorry

          6  for beating you up, but you were sitting in the

          7  chair and...

          8                 MR. RYAN: It's all right. I'm used to

          9  it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And you're

         11  probably used to it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         17  again, for your testimony and your insight, and

         18  especially for taking the time to come all the way

         19  from California to share with us the work that

         20  you've done. And now we'll go on to our next

         21  witness.

         22                 MR. RYAN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Mr. Henry

         24  Berger, are you still with us? Barely, huh? Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 As you move to the witness stand, I

          3  want to thank you. I know that you were on a tight

          4  schedule and you wanted to participate in this, so I

          5  want to extend on behalf for the Council and really

          6  on behalf of this City, our appreciation for your

          7  participation. You'll be sworn in now.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good morning.

          9  Do you solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you're

         10  about to give is the truth, the whole truth and

         11  nothing but the truth?

         12                 MR. BERGER: I do.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         14                 Could you state your name and your

         15  association for the record.

         16                 MR. BERGER: My name is Henry Berger.

         17  I'm the Chair of the Special Committee on Election

         18  Law of the Association of the Bar of the City of New

         19  York. And I appreciate the opportunity to come

         20  before you today to testify.

         21                 We have previously provided copies of

         22  our testimony, hard copies, and I think e-mails, and

         23  they should have been provided to all the members of

         24  the Committee already.

         25                 It's extensive testimony.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have

          3  copies of your testimony?

          4                 MR. BERGER: I don't.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          6                 MR. BERGER: We previously provided it

          7  to staff, but I think they're available.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, proceed.

          9                 MR. BERGER: Rather than go through

         10  it, because it is extensive, I want to make a few

         11  specific comments. We generally support the bill's

         12  central goal. We had some specific concerns and

         13  suggestions for a number of modifications.

         14                 On the multi-care bonus formula, we

         15  think this will help promote candidates to

         16  participate in this program, foster competitive

         17  races, and we strongly support it.

         18                 Similarly, we do support the limited

         19  participation provision. Having people agree to the

         20  spending limits has considerable merit. We recommend

         21  that this opportunity be extended to candidates

         22  financed by spouses or domestic partners to the

         23  extent permitted by election law that's not

         24  permitted under the current bill's acts.

         25                 We do have some concerns about
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          2  extending contribution limits to non-participating

          3  candidates. The Special Committee on Election Law of

          4  the City Bar is made up of academics, practitioners,

          5  most of the people who do participate in front of

          6  the City Campaign Finance Board, we believe there is

          7  a serious preemption issue in applying the

          8  contribution limit of the City program to

          9  non-participating candidates, specifically when the

         10  State election law provide specific contribution

         11  limits that are at variance to those provisions.

         12                 We do not believe that the preemption

         13  problem exists in terms of electronic disclosure,

         14  the State Election Law permits local option on

         15  electronic disclosure, we think that the City can

         16  require it, and the City Campaign Finance Board has

         17  been an appropriate repository for that information.

         18                 We do have some very specific

         19  concerns with the bill, and let me raise a few of

         20  them. One of those is an issue that you've discussed

         21  briefly, which is the use of government funds and

         22  resources. And certainly we have no concern with

         23  extending the period on newsletters, of the blackout

         24  on newsletters, whether it's 30 days or 60 days or

         25  90 days, it's certainly a policy issue and you must
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          2  balance the needs of the program with the needs of

          3  public officials to communicate with its

          4  constituents.

          5                 However, there is a provision in the

          6  bill that provides that any use of government funds

          7  or resources may be determined to be a contribution

          8  or expenditure under the act, and the determination

          9  of whether an expenditure is a contribution is left

         10  to the Campaign Finance Board, and it specifically

         11  says "any use of government funds, regardless of

         12  whether the expenditure is otherwise proper..." And

         13  this opens a huge door.

         14                 One example that I thought of is, if

         15  you get a street sign put up in your district and

         16  the CFB determines that that's in furtherance of

         17  your campaign, that is a contribution to your

         18  campaign, according to CFB. That's not what should

         19  be permitted. The current law provides that once a

         20  determination is made by the Ethics Board, that an

         21  expenditure is improper, then the CFB will consider

         22  whether it's in furtherance of your campaign. And we

         23  believe that the current law should continue. This

         24  opens a huge door and gives huge discretion to the

         25  Campaign Finance Board, an area that we believe it
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          2  is not appropriate, specifically because it deals

          3  with proper expenditures of government funds.

          4                 In the proposal on carrying over

          5  funds from one campaign to another, we just note on

          6  that two issues: One is, to the extent people have

          7  already transferred funds, there probably should be

          8  a grandfather clause, because actions have already

          9  been taken that may not be undone, and that should

         10  be dealt with.

         11                 Also we believe that the act should

         12  define what could be done with surplus funds at the

         13  end of the campaign. If you've finished a campaign,

         14  you've paid back funds to the Campaign Finance

         15  Board, and you have money left over, what can you do

         16  without those funds?

         17                 Under state election law they can be

         18  used for any legal purpose, including other

         19  campaigns. Clearly, under the City Campaign Finance

         20  proposal, they cannot be used for a future city

         21  campaign, and there should be some definition within

         22  the act whether you can use it for office furniture

         23  or other activities.

         24                 This of course raises the issue that

         25  Councilman Reed raised, about activities. I will
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          2  just note, having been a candidate for office myself

          3  once, that many of you, and I did, too, rely to a

          4  large extent on volunteers. Volunteers spend huge

          5  amounts of time. And to be able to throw a party to

          6  thank them for their huge effort, I have always

          7  believed is an appropriate campaign expenditure.

          8                 I think one of the problems we face

          9  is that nobody on the Campaign Finance Board staff

         10  has ever been involved in a campaign. They don't

         11  understand the roles of volunteers in campaigns and

         12  the needs for keeping your volunteers happy, and

         13  keeping your grassroots campaigns going.

         14                 So, I think there has to be some real

         15  definition of how to use surpluses and this may be

         16  an appropriate area in which you can look at

         17  Councilman Reed's concerns.

         18                 In the funding in non-competitive

         19  races, there is an objective standard which we agree

         20  with, and then there is a discretionary standard

         21  left to the Board that says essentially, "the Board

         22  can determine exceptional circumstances under which

         23  funding should be provided, such as high name

         24  recognition." Well, with all due respect, high name

         25  recognition probably isn't a pretty good standard.
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          2  Bernie Getz and Kenny Kramer both had very high name

          3  recognition and ran for public office in New York

          4  and got about four votes each.

          5                 There are other standards, and there

          6  should be clear standards in the legislation as to

          7  what constitutes exceptional circumstances.

          8                 For example, somebody who has run in

          9  the past and has gotten 20 or 30 percent of the vote

         10  clearly has a sizable base, and ought to be

         11  considered a competitive candidate, even if they

         12  don't raise or spend much money in this race.

         13                 Similarly, a party supporting a

         14  candidate, which has garnered significant votes in a

         15  similar race, should be considered.

         16                 So, there should be objective

         17  standards and we have provided some of those to the

         18  staff and we would ask that you look at providing

         19  those objective standards.

         20                 A couple other important issues. The

         21  bill would lead to the Board discretion to not index

         22  contribution in spending limits. CPI increases every

         23  four years. Contribution spending limits are

         24  fundamental elements of this law, they should not be

         25  left to the discretionary authority of the Board.
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          2  They should be the subject of legislative action in

          3  each event. Otherwise we're going to find ourselves

          4  in the same position that the federal government

          5  found itself in, where they had thousand dollar

          6  contribution limits going back for almost 30 years.

          7  And there is no indexing of it, and they had to make

          8  adjustments. There should be indexing. If there are

          9  exceptions to the indexing it should be legislative

         10  action by this body.

         11                 The bill will change the disclosure

         12  requirements to qualify for matching and

         13  contribution limits, the employment information.

         14                 Currently, you can still get matching

         15  funds on contributions under a thousand dollars if

         16  you don't provide the employment information. They

         17  want to reduce that to dollar zero. We think that

         18  that creates some special problems. Two of the

         19  problems are that if it will affect the threshold

         20  ability of candidates. One, that reducing the

         21  threshold contributions from a thousand dollars to

         22  $250. Up til now, every contribution of up to a

         23  thousand dollars counted towards reaching the

         24  threshold, is going to be reduced to $250, it's

         25  going to make it harder for candidates to qualify
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          2  for public funding.

          3                 They're also reducing the bottom

          4  limit on the employment information. If you don't

          5  provide employment information on somebody giving

          6  $10, that's not going to count towards your

          7  threshold or towards matching funds, and we think

          8  that's a significant mistake. It's going to make it

          9  much harder for people to qualify.

         10                 Those two elements ought to be

         11  probably read together. We suggest that the

         12  disclosure limit be reduced to $250, not to zero

         13  dollars, have the employment information available.

         14  If it's to catch bundling, we're not worried about

         15  $10 contributions being bundled. We're worried about

         16  the larger contributions being bundled. A $250 lower

         17  limit on that I think would be helpful.

         18                 Finally, one last point. This may be

         19  the single most important point. On current law,

         20  individual candidates are not personally liable for

         21  the obligation of their campaign committee. That's

         22  with the current laws in the State of New York.

         23  There is nothing in the Campaign Finance Act at

         24  variance with that.

         25                 The Campaign Finance Board has been
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          2  taking the position recently that individual

          3  candidates are responsible for the fines and

          4  penalties imposed by the CFB on their campaign.

          5  There is no provision in law for that. That issue is

          6  being litigated right now, in litigation in which I

          7  must disclose I am involved. This bill would provide

          8  for personal liability for each Council Member, and

          9  every other participant, for any fines or penalties

         10  imposed by the CFB.

         11                 One, you're interposing yourself in

         12  the midst of litigation that's ongoing, but, two,

         13  you're making a significant change in the system

         14  that now exists, by making the candidate and the

         15  candidate's committee coterminous. And if you want

         16  to impose personal liability on every participating

         17  candidate, one, you should make clear that you're

         18  doing it consciously and you know that you're doing

         19  it. Two, there's a retroactivity issue, does it

         20  apply to this period where that provision has not

         21  been in the law before. We ask you to look at this

         22  very seriously. We believe that such a significant

         23  change in the structure of the law is inappropriate

         24  and personal liability should not be imposed on

         25  individual candidates.
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          2                 We've also by the way, done a more

          3  extensive report that was issued in January on the

          4  entire operation of the 2001 Campaign Finance

          5  System, with a number of recommended amendments to

          6  the law, frequently dealing with the due process

          7  providing by the CFB. We would ask you to take a

          8  look at that. It may not be appropriate in this

          9  bill, but there are a number of recommendations

         10  there. I can go through a few of them if you want,

         11  but I know that you've got an extensive schedule

         12  today, and I don't want to take up too much of your

         13  time.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         16  Moskowitz.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         18  very much, Mr. Berger. And I would love to get a

         19  copy of the larger report, because I haven't seen

         20  that.

         21                 I guess I had one question about the

         22  employment information. I didn't quite understand. I

         23  thought you said that it was $1,000, that was the

         24  threshold right now; is that correct?

         25                 MR. BERGER: That's the current

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  threshold, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And they

          4  were going to bring it down to zero?

          5                 MR. BERGER: Zero dollars. Employment

          6  information should be provided for every

          7  contribution under the proposal of this bill.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And

          9  it seems to be that a broad area of concern is, what

         10  discretion the Board has, versus what is appropriate

         11  for legislative purview.  And forgive me for asking

         12  a sort of philosophical question, but I was

         13  wondering if you could give us any guidance, or

         14  rather than just go on the particulars, what's the

         15  sort of guiding principal about what should remain

         16  within legislative purview, versus the agency's

         17  discussion?

         18                 MR. BERGER: Well, I think there are

         19  probably three parts to it. One is that there are

         20  certain fundamental issues that ought to be within

         21  the purview of the Legislature, and contribution

         22  limits and spending limits are certainly fundamental

         23  issues.

         24                 There are broad implementation issues

         25  that can be dealt within regulations, and as long as
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          2  there are regulations, the issues of regulations

          3  through the normal channels, there are clear

          4  guidelines and I'm suggesting this in terms of, for

          5  example, the exceptional circumstances for a

          6  non-competitive candidate. Guidelines, you can

          7  probably do that in regulation, because once they

          8  adopt the regulations, while it's pending certainly

          9  the Council can look at it, and if it's

         10  inappropriate, deal with it legislatively.

         11                 There are other areas that are just

         12  implementation of the regulations themselves that

         13  the Board has to look at on a case-by-case basis.

         14                 You know, where you draw those lines

         15  is always very hard. You know, there's a whole body

         16  of administrative law as to what's an inappropriate

         17  delegation and what's an appropriate delegation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Could you

         19  then speak on the indexing issue? I didn't quite

         20  understand what you were saying the legislative body

         21  should do versus what our bill is giving over to the

         22  Campaign Finance Board.

         23                 MR. BERGER: Under the current law,

         24  the contribution limits and the spending limits are

         25  indexed every four years. Based on a CPI index.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          3                 MR. BERGER: This bill says that the

          4  CFD in its discretion can decide not to index in any

          5  four-year period. They can simply say this index is

          6  inappropriate, we're only going to index part of it,

          7  or none of it at all.

          8                 And I believe since the indexing goes

          9  to the fundamental issue of either contribution

         10  limits or spending limits, that's not an appropriate

         11  delegation to the CFB. If it's not going to be

         12  indexed for inflation, then you should be making the

         13  decision essentially that you're going to reduce the

         14  spending limits or the contribution limits. By not

         15  indexing, that's what you're doing, you're reducing

         16  the spending and contribution limits.

         17                 That ought to be a legislative issue,

         18  and not a discretionary administrative body issue.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And one

         20  final question. There's been a lot of discussion

         21  today, and the last time we had a hearing on this

         22  bill, about excessive spending by candidates with

         23  minimal opposition. And various figures have been

         24  cited, that if someone wins with here 75 percent of

         25  the vote, previously it was 70 percent of the vote,
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          2  and based on my experience, you know, I had, in 1999

          3  I won an election with 70 percent of the vote, but I

          4  don't think anyone would say that I had a

          5  non-serious opponent. And when you have a

          6  self-financed candidate, you also, and this law

          7  would improve things because you'd know more about

          8  the spending, but you could have someone who doesn't

          9  spend a lot of money until the bitter end, and is,

         10  you know, from my point of view, a serious opponent.

         11  I don't understand what the standard is that we are

         12  discussing here. I was wondering if you could say

         13  something about that.

         14                 MR. BERGER: We have recommended

         15  specifically that there be specific standards for

         16  that, and we have made a number of suggestions to

         17  staff about what those standards could be.

         18                 I think you always have a problem of

         19  somebody who waits until less than ten days before

         20  the election to spend all their money, although by

         21  then it may be too late. But if you require

         22  electronic disclosure, with the CFB, and you follow

         23  the Board of Elections schedule which requires an

         24  11-day pre-primary or pre-election report, you're

         25  really limiting the amount of time in which they
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          2  have to spend that money.

          3                 But it all ties together. You have to

          4  have the electronic disclosure, and I think you may

          5  also have to have a fail-safe mechanism that says

          6  that if the report isn't filed, there is a

          7  presumption that they've exceeded all possible

          8  limits, and it ought to trigger the release of

          9  money. But it does tie in I think with the

         10  disclosure, and it is a concern.

         11                 And, yes, winning with 70 percent

         12  doesn't mean anything if your component is going to

         13  go out and spend a quarter of a million dollars on

         14  mailings and --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: In my case

         16  1.3.

         17                 MR. BERGER: Yes. And TV ads in the

         18  last seven days. And it's certainly a concern in a

         19  primary which occurs eight days after Labor Day,

         20  because nobody focuses until Labor Day. And you've

         21  got to deal with those issues, and part of that is

         22  the disclosure issue.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: All right.

         24  Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: On this concern
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          2  about serious candidates. I've always understood a

          3  serious candidate meaning anybody can get on the

          4  ballot.

          5                 MR. BERGER: Well, we can have a

          6  philosophical discussion about that, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 There are candidates who get on the

          8  ballot who do not have the resources to communicate

          9  a message to the voters. And that's why you need

         10  some sort of standard. Name recognition may be one

         11  issue, but if you've got a candidate who has been

         12  running year after year after year, and I think some

         13  of you have faced cabinets like that, they begin to

         14  build up a base of support, and they come in at some

         15  point and they start getting 20 or 25 percent of the

         16  vote in the election, you know that that person has

         17  a base. It's not going to take very much to get them

         18  beyond being a fringe candidate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Doesn't the

         20  Campaign Finance Board run the risk of becoming sort

         21  of the judge of a person's candidacy.

         22                 In other words, if Campaign Finance

         23  Board says, you know, Bill Perkins is not a serious

         24  candidate, therefore we're not going to give you the

         25  money, isn't that sort of like an endorsement of the
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          2  other candidate indirectly?

          3                 MR. BERGER: It absolutely is. And

          4  that's why we have recommended specific objective

          5  criteria for dealing with the issue.

          6                 The CFB has --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That ultimately

          8  in the end is going to have an impact on that

          9  person's candidacy, no matter how objective you may

         10  think you're being.

         11                 MR. BERGER: It will. But if there are

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That judgment in

         14  and of itself may be more devastating than the lack

         15  of --

         16                 MR. BERGER: We're always doing

         17  balancing, and we're always drawing lines. If there

         18  are objective criteria, which would demonstrate that

         19  a candidate simply is not going to be able to

         20  communicate with the voters is not going to have an

         21  impact on the election, there is a question, a

         22  policy question about why we should be spending

         23  public money in opposition to that candidate.

         24                 The CFB has demonstrated that its

         25  political sense is not finely enough attuned to make
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          2  those judgments.

          3                 For example, in 2001, it took them

          4  until just a few weeks before the election to

          5  determine that the Public Advocate's race was going

          6  to be a close race and nobody was going to get 40

          7  percent to avoid a runoff. They wouldn't authorize a

          8  runoff fundraising until very, very late, in spite

          9  of the fact that there were seven candidates in the

         10  race, and it was clear that nobody was going to get

         11  more than 20 or 25 percent in that race.

         12                 If you have objective criteria, you

         13  take that discretion away from the CFB, and you

         14  begin to deal with the balancing issue, which is

         15  we've got a limited amount of money to spend on

         16  this, we ought not be spending it in races where

         17  there is really no competition.

         18                 The more objective you are, the less

         19  chance there is for mistake.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         21  Comrie.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

         23  thank you for coming and thank you for staying, Mr.

         24  Berger. Your testimony raises most of the issues

         25  that I had concerns about, especially with what you
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          2  just stated about having clear objectives and clear

          3  responsibility that's legislative as opposed to

          4  giving sole autonomy to the Board to make

          5  discretionary opinions on.

          6                 I just wanted to, and I appreciate

          7  what you said about the objective standards and the

          8  base, and also the entire issue on election year

          9  spending, I'm glad that you brought those issues up

         10  even more clearly between what an elected official

         11  has to spend on certain issues and what they would

         12  want to do in this bill, which would give them

         13  unlimited access to making sole decisions on what is

         14  usage and what is proper usage and what is not

         15  proper usage. And I hope that all the members get a

         16  chance to read that clearly.

         17                 I downloaded your statement, did you

         18  amend your statement that you had submitted from a

         19  couple of days before?

         20                 MR. BERGER: No, we didn't.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. It's the

         22  same statement?

         23                 MR. BERGER: Yes, it's in there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So they're

         25  working on making copies.
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          2                 I just wanted to ask you one other

          3  question, because we are pressed for time. In the

          4  bill they were talking about Board discretion over

          5  inflationary adjustment; did you speak to that at

          6  all?

          7                 MR. BERGER: Yes, I did. I suggested

          8  that that is not an appropriate delegation to the

          9  CFB. It's an issue that should be dealt with by the

         10  legislative body, by the City Council.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you would

         12  also go back to having objective standards and basic

         13  standards that are legislated by the Council, as

         14  opposed to giving discretionary authority to CFB,

         15  right?

         16                 MR. BERGER: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Again, I

         18  want to thank you for your testimony. It did speak

         19  to a lot of the issues that I was concerned about.

         20  You know, I want Campaign Finance to work, but I

         21  want it to work in an open and objective way, as

         22  opposed to a discretionary and sole or top authority

         23  type decision-making process that a lot of people,

         24  and I'm not just speaking for me, but a lot of

         25  members have felt has been abusive, and not
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          2  inclusive, and that their standards have not been

          3  clear and forthright, and we need to make sure that

          4  in order for them to continue to be the preeminent

          5  standard, that people from California would want to

          6  emulate, that all of their ideas and philosophies,

          7  and the way that they have handled their practices

          8  and opinions are clear to anyone that's looking at

          9  it.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. BERGER: Thank you, Mr. Comrie,

         12  Council Member Comrie.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There is a

         14  concern that the manner in which this bill is

         15  presently proposed, one could claim to be complying

         16  with the Campaign Finance Program, simply because

         17  one has complied with the disclosure aspect of it,

         18  though one is actually self-financing above and

         19  beyond the expenditure limits.

         20                 Do you have any thoughts about that?

         21  In other words, I'm running for City Council, there

         22  are limits as to how much I can spend. I'm going to

         23  bust those limits, but at the same time I'm going to

         24  comply with the disclosure requirements, and

         25  therefore I will be able to avoid the criticism that
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          2  I'm not complying with the program.

          3                 Do you have a thought about that kind

          4  of contradiction?

          5                 MR. BERGER: Yes. I think you'd deal

          6  with that with campaign literature. They guy is a

          7  liar, he's not participating, or the gal is a liar,

          8  she's not participating. Yes, they're doing

          9  disclosure because they're required to, they're not

         10  abiding by the spending limits, they're not abiding

         11  by the contribution limits, whatever it is. Is this

         12  the kind of person you want to elect to office,

         13  somebody who won't tell you the whole truth?

         14                 I mean, I think you've just got to

         15  deal with that with political speech.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you think

         17  that the recommendation or the approach that's being

         18  taken, I think in other jurisdictions, particularly

         19  I think it was mentioned in terms of Los Angeles in

         20  which they have a disclosure bill that everyone

         21  that's running for municipal office has to comply

         22  with, period, and then they have a campaign finance

         23  program, so that they're not mixed into one, it's

         24  not a part of the Campaign Finance program per se?

         25  It's separate from the Campaign Finance Program.
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          2  And, so, yes, I'm complying with the disclosure

          3  requirements because that's the law, but whether or

          4  not I'm complying with the Campaign Finance Program,

          5  that's another question.

          6                 MR. BERGER: I think that there are a

          7  couple of reasons for doing both the disclosure

          8  requirement and the contribution limit requirement,

          9  imposing that on non-participating candidates, why

         10  it ought to be in a separate bill.

         11                 One is for the issue you've raised,

         12  but also because there are issues about preemption

         13  in both these areas, as I said, probably more

         14  serious than the contribution limit bill, if you do

         15  it in a separate bill, if that bill is attacked, it

         16  doesn't affect everything else you're doing in the

         17  rest of this legislation. You may well be looking at

         18  at least two bills in this area, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, do you feel

         20  that the "disclosure bill" is less subject to

         21  preempting and therefore that might go through,

         22  there is some state laws that will allow us to do

         23  that, versus --

         24                 MR. BERGER: The State Election law,

         25  which provides for State disclosure, provides for
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          2  electronic disclosure for statewide offices and

          3  certain state offices, but leaves to local

          4  discretion electronic disclosure for anything else.

          5  So, I think that clearly permits a municipality to

          6  impose an electronic disclosure requirement, and as

          7  I said I think the CFB is an appropriate repository

          8  for that disclosure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The first

         10  witness dealt with the questions of preemption in

         11  such a way that it seemed as if, even with respect

         12  to the limits, spending limits, there was no issue,

         13  there's no constitutional issue.

         14                 Can you share what you're thinking in

         15  that regard?

         16                 MR. BERGER: I have read an extensive

         17  memo by Professor Bifalt of Columbia University, who

         18  argues that there are no preemption issues, and I

         19  think he just misses some essential points, and I

         20  assume that the gentleman from California was making

         21  similar points. But there's a very specific

         22  provision in the New York State Election Law that

         23  says the contribution limit for candidates for

         24  Citywide office in the City of New York shall be,

         25  and it gives the number. And once you have that kind
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          2  of provision in the State law, I think if you put in

          3  a number that says, even though the State law says I

          4  can give $13,700, New York City says I can only give

          5  $4,950. I think that's a clear conflict. I think it

          6  raises serious preemption issues. I think there are

          7  policy grounds why a lower City limit ought to be

          8  permitted, but that's a policy ground and not a

          9  legal ground. I'm not sure that the courts are going

         10  to go with policy ground over certain legal

         11  requirements, where the State Law clearly permits a

         12  certain contribution.

         13                 I think it's a serious issue that

         14  will only be resolved by the Appellate Courts of

         15  this State, once such a law is adopted, and I hate

         16  to see a challenge to that law affect everything

         17  else that you're trying to do in this law, which is

         18  why I'm suggesting that you may want to do a

         19  separate bill for that piece.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The campaign

         21  contribution limits, in terms of the State law, as

         22  you point out, for all municipal offices, not just

         23  for Council but for all municipal offices, we're

         24  very concerned about making sure that we don't just

         25  talk about the Mayoral election, because otherwise
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          2  it will look like that's what all this is about.

          3  It's really not about that from the perspective of

          4  the City Council.

          5                 MR. BERGER: I was using that just as

          6  an example.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I understand.

          8                 But now with respect to that other

          9  aspect of with you're self-financed and you're not

         10  going to comply with our spending limits. You say

         11  that there's a preemption with regard to that as

         12  well?

         13                 I'm not talking about contribution

         14  limits now, I'm talking about spending limit. You

         15  see it's the same thing?

         16                 MR. BERGER: If you are not a

         17  participating candidate, spending limits cannot be

         18  imposed on you, if you don't participate. Whether as

         19  a self-financed candidate, or as a non --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is there a

         21  preemption issue, from your point of view?

         22                 MR. BERGER: No, because the Supreme

         23  Court in Buckley v. Vallejo said you cannot impose

         24  spending limit candidates, except under a voluntary

         25  system.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, the

          3  preemption in your point of view is simply in terms

          4  of contribution limits. Thank you.

          5                 MR. BERGER: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Any other questions?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         11  Peter Vallone.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Berger, for testifying today.

         14                 On the surplus funds, I think to me

         15  this matches with changing the rules in the middle

         16  of the game. Question: Do you think that that if

         17  surplus funds rules should apply equally to money

         18  raised under CFB and other types of money, say

         19  federal and state money?

         20                 MR. BERGER: I'm not sure what you

         21  mean. You mean leftover funds or transferred funds?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Leftover

         23  funds in a committee which has been overseen by the

         24  CFB and money raised under CFB guidelines.

         25  Apparently under this proposal, that money cannot be
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          2  used for a future campaign either.

          3                 MR. BERGER: That's right. That's

          4  correct, okay.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you see

          6  any logic in that? As opposed to funds that may have

          7  been raised under different standards?

          8                 MR. BERGER: Well, the policy issue

          9  that I think that they're trying to deal with is

         10  that it's essentially imcumbents, current office

         11  holders, whatever office, who have the ability to

         12  raise money, and why should they be able to raise

         13  money over last term and the term before and keep

         14  rolling it over, when an insurgent or a challenger

         15  comes in and they're going to start raising money in

         16  this cycle.

         17                 That's a policy issue. And you as a

         18  legislative body have to decide how to deal with

         19  that policy issue. I don't think it's a legal issue.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Under this

         21  proposal, what can be done with those funds? There

         22  are those of us who raised funds, no City money

         23  because under the CFB you can't retain any City

         24  money, it has to be turned back, private money, did

         25  not spend it because it would have been a waste to
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          2  spend money when it's not needed, and have it now;

          3  what can be done with that money under this

          4  proposal?

          5                 MR. BERGER: That's not clear and we

          6  suggest that there be some clarity in the law about

          7  that. Under state law, leftover campaign funds can

          8  be used for virtually any legal purpose, except

          9  putting it in your own pocket.

         10                 Frequently it's used for running your

         11  district office or buying supplies or making

         12  charitable or political contributions. I think if

         13  you're a participating candidate under the Campaign

         14  Finance Act, you can't use the money for those

         15  purposes, because any expenditure of the funds under

         16  the Campaign Finance Act is essentially deemed in

         17  furtherance of your campaign. You run into the

         18  problems with transition and inauguration

         19  committees, you clearly can't use the money for

         20  that. If you spend the money on your office, and

         21  whatever, it may be deemed an expenditure for your

         22  next campaign, if you're a participating candidate.

         23  So, clearly there has to be something in the statute

         24  that deals with how you expend that money, and, you

         25  know, it may be very appropriate for a legislation
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          2  to say that you can use that money either for

          3  transition and inaugural expenses, which would be a

          4  change from the current law. You can use it for

          5  expenditures for governmental purposes, running your

          6  district office, buying equipment for your district

          7  office, anything in furtherance of your holding of

          8  the office, and then you get into the tougher issues

          9  about can you use it for charitable or political

         10  contribution, or is that in furtherance of your next

         11  campaign, and does that raise issues that have to be

         12  dealt with otherwise.

         13                 Clearly, there's a void in the law

         14  that's got to be dealt with here that hasn't been

         15  dealt with.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Absolutely.

         17  And I would agree perhaps with those changes in the

         18  future, when everyone knew the rules that they were

         19  playing, but to do it without a grandfather clause,

         20  we'd just be changing the rules in the middle of the

         21  game.

         22                 So, thank you for your testimony.

         23                 MR. BERGER: Thank you, Councilman

         24  Vallone.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Berger, for your testimony and your

          3  patience and your good work on behalf of the people

          4  of the City of New York.

          5                 Our next panel will be a panel of

          6  good government groups and advocates, Dick Dadey,

          7  Executive Director, Citizens Union Foundation; Gene

          8  Russianoff, Senior Staff Attorney, New York Public

          9  Interest Research Group; and Rachel Leon of Common

         10  Cause.

         11                 I want to thank all of you who are

         12  patiently waiting to join in providing testimony.

         13                 We have the good fortune of

         14  addressing a piece of legislation that is complex

         15  and requires a lot of attention, and very often in

         16  this Committee, testimony lasts a little longer than

         17  perhaps we might even like, but nevertheless, it's

         18  something that we have to deal with, and, so, I want

         19  to express my appreciation to one and all who are

         20  sitting there patiently waiting their turn, and hope

         21  that you do not despair and stick around with us to

         22  the end. And you will not be last.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you each

         25  raise your right hand?
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          2                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          3  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

          4  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 MR. DADEY: I do.

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I do.

          7                 MS. LEON: I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          9  Could you each, before giving your testimony, state

         10  your name and the organization you're affiliated

         11  with?

         12                 MS. LEON: Rachel Leon, Executive

         13  Director, Common Cause, New York.

         14                 MR. DADEY: Dick Dadey, Executive

         15  Director of Citizens Union.

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Gene Rusianoff. I'm

         17  Senior Attorney with the New York Public Interest

         18  Research Group.

         19                 MS. LEON: Good afternoon. I'm Rachel

         20  Leon, Executive Director of Common Cause New York,

         21  and I'm proud to sit with my fellow civic colleagues

         22  to strongly state my support for this legislation

         23  today.

         24                 I'll try to be pretty brief, because

         25  we're going to be talking about some of the same
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          2  points. So, I'll be even shorter than what's already

          3  pretty brief testimony.

          4                 I just did want to say one thing

          5  which is, there's been a lot of debate about all

          6  sides of the Campaign Finance Program this morning,

          7  and we started a program working in high schools all

          8  across the City, and we did a Youth Council project

          9  in five high schools last spring, and I can tell you

         10  that it's so amazing to be able to go into all these

         11  classrooms and talk to students about the Campaign

         12  Finance Program and about the Public Financing

         13  Program that New York City has. It's something we

         14  should really be proud of, and we need to strive to

         15  protect it and enhance it, and to be able to look at

         16  those students and tell them that under this program

         17  it is possible that they could run for City Council,

         18  and that they could run for office and that you

         19  don't have to have deep pockets if you live in New

         20  York City, which is a very different story than we

         21  could say in almost any other high school across the

         22  state.

         23                 So, I think we just need to remember

         24  a little bit, about how strong and wonderful this

         25  program is, and one of the keys to the success of
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          2  this program has been that it has constantly

          3  evolved, that it has constantly changed, that the

          4  City Council has constantly done new legislation to

          5  make it better, and I think that the legislation

          6  before you today would cross us to the next

          7  threshold, make it better and face the reality that

          8  candidates face in today's world.

          9                 In terms of the specific Intro.

         10  382-A, again, we strongly support it. Though a lot

         11  of attention has been focused on this greater match,

         12  we think there's a lot of money saving in this bill,

         13  and so we're just going to highlight a couple of the

         14  provisions we really think would, actually could

         15  save New York money.

         16                 We think the notion that preventing a

         17  receipt of substantial amounts of public funds when

         18  facing token opponents could save the City a lot of

         19  money and it's important, we think encouraging

         20  self-funded candidates to limit their spending when

         21  running for City office is crucial. We think

         22  consolidating first-, second- and third-year

         23  spending ceilings and lowering the total of these

         24  ceilings from 64,000 to 24,000 dollars in Council

         25  races could really do a lot, and we really do
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          2  support stronger enforcement of the prohibition on

          3  using City resources during an election year.

          4                 When it comes to the greater public

          5  match, we want to stand strong today and say that we

          6  heartily endorse a more generous match for

          7  candidates facing wealthy self-funded opponents.

          8                 If this program is going to stay

          9  vital, if participation rates are going to remain

         10  high, we have to deal with the growing reality of

         11  self-financed candidates.

         12                 It used to be said that these people

         13  run but they don't win. We have now seen across the

         14  country and in our own city that they are

         15  increasingly winning, and if this program is going

         16  to remain viable, we have to deal with it.

         17                 So, we support and think that the

         18  approach before you is a rational approach.

         19                 I'm going to leave this to Gene and

         20  Dick, but we concur with NYPIRG and any other

         21  leading civics, although Citizens' Union has some

         22  unique proposals on their own, but we do have a

         23  couple of suggested amendments. We urge amending the

         24  provision in Intro. 382-A that seeks to address the

         25  issue of war chests --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excuse me. Just

          3  for the record, it's now 124.

          4                 MR. LEON: Okay. Well, then I'll just

          5  leave that stuff to Gene, but we support.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, the number

          7  of the bill.

          8                 MS. LEON: Oh, I'm sorry.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's 124.

         10                 MS. LEON: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: New session, new

         12  number.

         13                 MS. LEON: Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So we've moved

         15  up the number so-to-speak.

         16                 MS. LEON: Does that mean it's getting

         17  closer to passage? Then we highly support it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's in the

         19  priority category.

         20                 MS. LEON: Excellent. That sounds like

         21  a good movement, then.

         22                 Well, anyway, Gene will go into the

         23  detail, but we concur with NYPIRG on the issues

         24  around the war chest surplus campaigns, around

         25  giving the Campaign Finance Board specific authority

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  on civil penalties for violates of the provisions of

          3  misuse of governmental resources, and we strongly

          4  support lowering the current contribution limits in

          5  City Law. Thank you for your time.

          6                 And I'll take questions I guess at

          7  the end after you hear from everybody.

          8                 MR. DADEY: Good afternoon. Citizens

          9  Union has long supported the strong and evolving New

         10  York City Campaign Finance Program. While many

         11  provisions of the initial law still stand unaltered,

         12  the program has been a success largely due to its

         13  evolving nature that has allowed the Campaign

         14  Finance Board to effectively confront the challenges

         15  to the program, and institute reforms that continue

         16  to make it the most relevant and far-reaching

         17  program in the nation.

         18                 Citizens' Union believes that this

         19  bill continues this legacy by responding to recent

         20  challenges that confront the electoral system in New

         21  York City.

         22                 We believe that consistent with the

         23  statutory requirement, the campaign financing system

         24  be evaluated after each election. Reform should be

         25  passed and implemented in an expeditious manner.
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          2                 While Citizens' Union firmly supports

          3  the overall aim of this piece of legislation, we do

          4  have concerns over certain of its element and oppose

          5  certain specific provisions. But let me start by

          6  focusing on those that we do support. We did not

          7  have a position yet developed at the last time the

          8  Council had a hearing on this, but since then we

          9  have decided to come out in support of the

         10  multi-match program to as high as an eight-to-one

         11  match. We do support the strengthening of the

         12  prohibition against the use of government resources

         13  for mass mailings and other mass communications

         14  before an election by extending it from 30 to 90

         15  days. We do support curbing the outlay of public

         16  funds to candidates facing minimal opposition, as a

         17  prudent cost saving measure. We do support reducing

         18  the relief from the spending limit when a

         19  participant faces a well-funded opponent.

         20                 We also support the imposition of

         21  contribution limits, disclosure requirements and

         22  other provisions for all candidates running for City

         23  office, including those who do not join the

         24  voluntary campaign finance program.

         25                 If there is an issue of preemption,
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          2  Citizen Union does support state legislation to

          3  support these City limits.

          4                 We also support expanding the

          5  prohibition on contribution limits to

          6  non-participants in the Campaign Finance Program, as

          7  well as participants.

          8                 We also support expanding the debate

          9  program to allow non-participants to participate.

         10  Though we do oppose to propose language that would

         11  prohibit self-funded candidates from participating

         12  in debates and circumstances where other

         13  non-participating candidates are allowed to

         14  participate.

         15                 Specifically we oppose three of these

         16  provisions; 1) instituting restrictions on the use

         17  of surplus funds from prior elections. We believe

         18  and support an alternative reform that would allow

         19  the transfer of state and federal committee funds,

         20  with the caveat that only those funds raised in the

         21  current four-year City election cycle that began

         22  specifically January 2002 be eligible for transfer,

         23  knowing that these contributions would remain

         24  ineligible for public matching funds.

         25                 We oppose permitting the Campaign
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          2  Finance Board discretion in applying the

          3  inflationary adjustments applied to contribution

          4  limits, and we also oppose altering the expenditure

          5  limits by participating or limited participating

          6  candidates for any City office in the three-year

          7  calendar years proceeding the year of the election.

          8                 Though we understand that this is

          9  being proposed, to disallow incumbents from spending

         10  too much in advance of a re-election race, it would

         11  also have the unintended effect of preventing

         12  credible challengers from spending sufficient money

         13  to raise their profile and increase their

         14  visibility.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon, Mr.

         17  Chairman, and Committee staff. I'm Gene Russianoff

         18  with NYPIRG. We testified at the previous hearing in

         19  December, said lots of good things about the bill,

         20  and I agree with my colleagues that the bill is a

         21  major step forward. I just want briefly highlight my

         22  testimony some areas that we hope the Committee

         23  continues to think about. It's clear from today's

         24  discussion that there will be revisions in the bill

         25  and that members and groups have raised specific
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          2  issues. So, on the second page of my testimony, I

          3  have four points that we would urge the Committee to

          4  look at.

          5                 First of all, NYPIRG supports

          6  lowering the contribution limits now in City law.

          7  Right now we think the limits are too high, $4,950

          8  for Citywide races, $3,850 for boroughwide, $3,750

          9  for Council races. We support what is the Campaign

         10  Finance Board's recommendation for lower limits, and

         11  that will be 4,000 Citywide, 3,000 boroughwide, and

         12  2,000 in Council races. And I know the long

         13  discussion about this provision in the bill that

         14  would give the Campaign Finance Board the discretion

         15  to ignore cost of living adjustments in the campaign

         16  contributions and certainly Councilman Comrie's

         17  concerns about that, if that provision goes and if

         18  the notion is that it's up to the Legislature to

         19  determine an appropriate campaign contribution

         20  limit, I urge you to do that, and to lower the

         21  limits.

         22                 The Council did that the last time

         23  around, back before the 2001 election cycle. It's a

         24  unique body that will lower campaign contribution

         25  limits, I think it was to the Council's credit and I
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          2  think more thought should be given if this provision

          3  on the cost of living adjustment is going to be

          4  revised.

          5                 Second, we urge that the legislation

          6  adopt the Board's recommendation to eliminate the

          7  category of exempt expenditures for such things as

          8  legal and accounting costs for complying with the

          9  election law. Getting rid exempt expenditures would

         10  make the law simpler to administer, and simpler for

         11  candidates who are bedeviled by the program's many

         12  requirements.

         13                 Third, we would urge that the

         14  Campaign Finance Board be given specific authority

         15  to assess civil penalties for violations, the

         16  provision in the bill about misuse of governmental

         17  resources. As we read the bill right now, the Board

         18  has some role, there is really no administrative

         19  agency that puts teeth into what's been a provision

         20  in the law since 1998, and that's made it much less

         21  effective than it should be.

         22                 Lastly you'll see attached to my

         23  testimony is a letter from us, Citizens' Union and

         24  Common Cause, that touches on what's called the "war

         25  chest" provision, that would limit the use of
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          2  surplus campaign funds from previous elections. We

          3  agree with the aim of restricting the use of surplus

          4  funds, but we believe that as drafted, this

          5  provision would not work fairly, and that's detailed

          6  in the letter.

          7                 There are different options for

          8  putting all candidates on an even footing in the

          9  current and future election cycles. One would be to

         10  limit all candidates to contributions raised since

         11  the beginning of the current four-year election

         12  cycle in boroughwide and Citywide races, part of

         13  phasing in the provision.

         14                 We don't think the provision is fair

         15  and we hope that the Committee gives serious

         16  consideration to revising it.

         17                 And lastly, we hope that the

         18  Council's Committee and staff, who worked very hard

         19  on this bill, can continue to move forward, and that

         20  action can be taken on legislation sooner than

         21  later.

         22                 The further this legislation is

         23  enacted before the election cycle, the better. The

         24  less intrusive it is on the candidates and the

         25  campaigns and there's been a long history of

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  amending the law well in advance of the election

          3  cycle.

          4                 And I thank you and we enjoy and

          5  appreciate the opportunity to participate in the

          6  crafting of this bill.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you. One

          8  of the concerns that has been discussed this

          9  morning, I believe you were here during it. Either

         10  one of you or all of you can respond. Is the

         11  concerns around preemption, particularly disclosure

         12  -- well, let me back up. First the disclosure fees.

         13  There's a concern that the way the bill is crafted,

         14  one could claim to be complying with the bill just

         15  because of disclosure. And there's a question as to

         16  whether or not the disclosure piece should be a

         17  separate bill, and that the complying with the

         18  campaign finance program aspects of this be another

         19  bill.

         20                 So that one who is self-financed,

         21  spending all types of money for City Council,

         22  whatever office, would not have the opportunity to

         23  say, oh, I'm complying with the bill, after all I'm

         24  disclosing, even though, frankly, the spirit of the

         25  bill is not simply about disclosure, but actually
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          2  more important in some respects about limits.

          3                 So, what is your thinking about

          4  whether this should be separated out, whether it's a

          5  problem or not, whatever.

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: We support the bill

          7  as drafted. I think it's good public policy to

          8  require non-participants to follow the laws, rules

          9  about disclosure, about contributions, and the audit

         10  and penalty provisions of the law.

         11                 And I understand that you can argue

         12  it's the role of the dice, that we don't know what a

         13  court will do if somebody challenges the Board's

         14  authority to limit their contributions.

         15                 This is the only program that I know

         16  of in the nation where non-participants have a

         17  geometrically greater campaign contribution limit

         18  than participants. I think that's something that's

         19  noted in the staff report. Tens of thousands of

         20  dollars you're allowed in individual limits if

         21  you're not in the program, and the State law so

         22  lacks that you can get, that same person can give

         23  you that kind of money from like several of their

         24  partnerships or corporations or affiliates.

         25                 So, anyway, and I understand, I read
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          2  the Bar Association's testimony carefully. I

          3  understand their view is limit the law, the

          4  legislation to only require disclosure by

          5  non-participants because you're on the strongest

          6  ground legally and that's important. As a matter of

          7  public policy, having the same contribution limit

          8  for participants and non-participants, seems to me

          9  to be a very important thing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But from your

         11  point of view, one doesn't deny the other.

         12                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: No, to me it's a

         13  package. If the City is going to assert its

         14  authority over non-participants, it should do it in

         15  a comprehensive way, not just on disclosure but on

         16  limits and audit and penalty. And I think that's

         17  defensible, and certainly Mr. Ryan, you know, his

         18  view of the constitutional law in this area is

         19  favorable and Professor Bifalt's memo is very

         20  compelling. So, I think you should go for it.

         21                 MS. LEON: We would just agree, and we

         22  shouldn't let Albany get in our way to be the best

         23  city and have the best public financing program we

         24  can.

         25                 We spent a lot of time with our
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          2  fellow colleagues in Albany trying to change the

          3  laws there, but we support it in this bill. And I

          4  think you're raising two different concerns.

          5                 On the second concern, that people

          6  would be able to say they're abiding by the

          7  disclosure laws and therefore they're a part of the

          8  program, I think you could also know that we would

          9  be your partners in educating the public, and

         10  holding candidates accountable, that simply abiding

         11  disclosure law is not being a part of the campaign

         12  finance program.

         13                 I think you would find editorial

         14  boards and good government watchdogs, and the

         15  general public would get it, and that that would be

         16  part or our mission as part of the new law.

         17                 MR. DADEY: I agree.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, from your

         19  point of view, there are no real serious preemption

         20  issues?

         21                 MS. LEON: I mean, there may be a

         22  legal battle. But I think we're just coming off a

         23  terrific Supreme Court victory on the soft money ban

         24  where many people said that they felt several

         25  portions of that bill were unconstitutional and
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          2  wouldn't win, and that was a very strong upholding

          3  of the law. And, so, I think we're in a good

          4  position.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much for your participation, and your patience and

          7  your continued vigilance with respect to this

          8  program. We really appreciate it. Thank you.

          9                 MS. LEON: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: According to

         11  what I have before me, the next person represents

         12  the Working Families' Party, Jim Rogers. And unless

         13  I'm mistaken, this is the last witness.

         14                 Is there anyone out there that

         15  intends on testifying who maybe I missed? If not,

         16  thank you.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Can you raise

         18  your right hand?

         19                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         20  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         21  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. ROGERS: Yes.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         24  Could you state your name and affiliation before you

         25  start giving testimony.
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          2                 MR. ROGERS: My name is Jim Rogers,

          3  I'm with the Working Families Party, I'm also the

          4  President of the Association of Legal Aid Attorneys,

          5  UAW Local 2325. Thank you for your patience and

          6  thank you for having me here today.

          7                 As you know, the WFP is now the third

          8  largest party in New York City, 15 percent of

          9  Citywide votes were on the Working Families Party's

         10  line.

         11                 We have a strong commitment to open

         12  and fair publicly-financed elections, and if we look

         13  at what the campaign finance system so far has given

         14  us in New York City that we're all so happy about,

         15  the dramatic democratization of politics in New York

         16  City, diversity of backgrounds, diversity of views

         17  on the City Council. And if I just switch hats for a

         18  second and speak as the president of the Association

         19  of Legal Aid Attorneys, when we hit a brick wall at

         20  Legal Aid, our clients hit a brick wall at all areas

         21  of government, we feel that we can always come to

         22  the City Council and get a fair hearing.

         23                 Things might not go our way in the

         24  City Council, that's fine. But an open-minded, fair,

         25  broad hearing from people that have diverse
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          2  backgrounds, and have diverse views, is well

          3  appreciated, not only by the Association of Legal

          4  Aid Attorneys, but obviously by the UAW as a whole.

          5  And it's so important, and that is a product of

          6  campaign finance. And especially for our clients

          7  that live in poorer neighborhoods, what happens to

          8  those clients and their families, and people that

          9  live in poor neighborhoods and somebody decides to

         10  run for office, to make change themselves, to

         11  finally step forward and gather their community

         12  around them and say I can do this also, and they've

         13  done that, and they've raised as much money as they

         14  can and here comes the public financing, and all of

         15  a sudden a candidate with deep pockets decides at

         16  the last minute, well, they're going to come along,

         17  you know, and take that election away from that

         18  person. The community wants that person, but with

         19  the money that election could be taken away. That's

         20  why the part of the bill that we support the most is

         21  obviously an increase in matching funds where the

         22  opponent has very deep pockets.

         23                 It will keep the playing field fair

         24  and that is our number one concern.

         25                 The last thing I would like to get to
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          2  is one more piece. We feel also that the bill is

          3  fiscally responsible as well in tightening the limit

          4  for funds to candidates that don't have any real

          5  opposition, but we also think that to the extent

          6  that the bill is a little more costly, that is money

          7  well spent if it means a fair fight against an

          8  opponent who could otherwise not only buy their way

          9  into office, but buy their way to access to the City

         10  budget.

         11                 So, it's a little extra money spent

         12  up front to retain control of a City budget perhaps

         13  and keep that control in the hands of the widest

         14  representation of the electorate.

         15                 So, if there is a slight increase in

         16  cost that this bill represents, we're okay with

         17  that. We think that's money wisely invested.  And we

         18  would ask for your consideration, perhaps now,

         19  perhaps at another time that the laws expand even

         20  further, and we suggest a Charter amendment. We

         21  don't think that deep pockets should buy changes to

         22  the Charter, to the constitution of this City

         23  either. We think that we have to go far and wide

         24  sometimes to defeat special interests that put

         25  Charter amendments on the bill for certain reasons,
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          2  and we think that you could expand this law to

          3  Charter amendments. And if I may also say, to judge

          4  races. I understand that a judge is a state office,

          5  but until something happens in Albany around state

          6  campaign reform, you know, the WFP ran a slate of

          7  six judicial candidates in this last election, and

          8  we did not win a seat but we learned a lot.

          9                 First of all, we got extremely wide

         10  endorsement for our candidates. The Daily News, for

         11  instance, no friend to the Working Families Party,

         12  endorsed in three separate editorials all of our

         13  candidates because they approved of the process. We

         14  sponsor an independent selection committee, and we

         15  vetted candidates based on merit only, and those are

         16  the candidates that got onto the WFP line. And so

         17  when the New York Times and the Daily News and every

         18  other major media outlet in New York City took a

         19  look at how we did it, they supported those

         20  candidates because they knew that they were merit

         21  based. But what happened in the actual election even

         22  with all that media support? We lost, and we didn't

         23  win a single judge seat, and the reason was this: It

         24  came down to Campaign Finance. In those districts,

         25  in five districts where we had a large presence,
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          2  that is, we could do mailings and we could keep this

          3  on the front burner of people's minds, we won in

          4  those districts three to one. Three to one people

          5  jumped off the democratic line for judge, went to

          6  the WFP line and then went back to the democratic

          7  line for their other needs, but we were able to

          8  remind them with the money that we did have, of what

          9  the people who investigated the picking of judges,

         10  selection of judges, the putting of judges on the

         11  ballot, had analyzed our process. When we were able

         12  to have the money to remind people with simple

         13  mailings in those districts, we won three to one. In

         14  every other district where we could not afford to

         15  keep up those mailings, and to remind people of

         16  that, we lost by an equal margin. We lost three to

         17  one.

         18                 So, it is a perfect example if we

         19  had, of what money means in politics. So, even when

         20  major media comes out for your candidate, it is not

         21  a shoe and it is not a win. So, a little extra

         22  additional money, a slight increase in the

         23  financing, and we would have a whole new slate of

         24  judges sitting in Supreme Court in Brooklyn, which

         25  would be so important now. So, it's just food for
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          2  thought. I do appreciate your consideration of this

          3  issue, and I thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 I just wanted to for the record note

          7  that we know that there is some legislation before

          8  the Committee related to the judges and also with

          9  regard to referendums that will be taken up at a

         10  later date. But we're definitely looking at those.

         11  As a matter of fact, one such piece of legislation,

         12  I believe I'm the sponsor of.

         13                 MR. ROGERS: Well, I appreciate that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So you have some

         15  sympathy, at least in the chair, for one of the

         16  pieces of legislation. Actually, for both pieces of

         17  legislation, because I'm actually either a sponsor

         18  or co-sponsor of them both.

         19                 MR. ROGERS: That's great. I thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         22                 I want to conclude this hearing,

         23  which has been a very fruitful hearing. It's been

         24  very informative. We've tried to tease out some of

         25  the important issues and concerns that are embodied
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          2  in this legislation, and which the members and the

          3  public have to offer. It seems clear from all the

          4  testimony that we've received that we're headed in

          5  the right direction.

          6                 There are some aspects of this

          7  legislation that clearly we will be looking at again

          8  and again and again. There are some outstanding

          9  potential obstacles related to preemption, though

         10  most of the testimony seems to suggest that it's not

         11  a problem, there are some who might think we will

         12  have to look at it more carefully, maybe dissect the

         13  legislation, or separate out different parts of it

         14  and make it into more than one piece of legislation.

         15                 There's some serious concerns that

         16  have been raised about the role of the Campaign

         17  Finance Board, in terms of how they monitor and

         18  perhaps what authority they have that is embodied or

         19  implied in this legislation which we'll have to deal

         20  with. I should note that subsequent to the

         21  complaints by the members about the absence of the

         22  representative of the Campaign Finance Board, we

         23  were contacted that the Executive Director would be

         24  available if immediately upon request. That request

         25  was not given, essentially because those who had
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          2  represented their concern were no longer available,

          3  and so we thought that we would wait until the next

          4  hearing, there will definitely be a next hearing

          5  with regard to this legislation.

          6                 And we also want to make note that

          7  there is some concerns in the legislation as it

          8  relates to the resources that incumbents have,

          9  whether they're Council members, or whatever office

         10  they hold, when they can be spent and when they

         11  shouldn't be spent, the timing of that, as well as

         12  the definition of who is a serious candidate, who is

         13  not a serious candidate. Some objective definition

         14  has to be developed with regard to that as well.

         15                 So, clearly, there is a lot of meat

         16  to discuss with respect to this legislation. I want

         17  to thank one and all who came to testify, and in

         18  some way participate for their contribution. I

         19  believe that we're on the right track to making

         20  better, the Campaign Finance Program that we have.

         21  And so with that, this meeting is adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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